Wegner estimate and localization for alloy-type models with sign-changing exponentially decaying single-site potentials

Karsten Leonhardt^{1,3}, Norbert Peyerimhoff², Martin Tautenhahn¹, and Ivan Veselić¹

 ¹Faculty of Mathematics, Chemnitz University of Technology, 09107 Chemnitz, Germany
 ²Department of Mathematical Sciences, Durham University, DH1 3LE, Great Britain
 ³Current address: Max Planck Institute for the Physics of Complex Systems, 01187 Dresden, Germany

Abstract

We study Schrödinger operators on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ with a random potential of alloy-type. The single-site potential is assumed to be exponentially decaying but not of compact support. In the continuum setting we require a generalized step-function shape. Wegner estimates are bounds on the average number of eigenvalues in an energy interval of finite box restrictions of these types of operators. In the described situation a Wegner estimate which is polynomial in the volume of the box and linear in the size of the energy interval holds. We apply the established Wegner estimate as an ingredient for a localization proof via multiscale analysis.

Contents

1	Introduction	2		
2	Model and results	3		
	2.1 Model and basic notation	3		
	2.2 Results on Wegner estimate	5		
	2.3 Results on localization	7		
3	Non-monotonicity and long range interactions			
4	Positive combinations of translated single-site potentials			
5	Abstract Wegner estimates; proof of Theorem 2.2 and 2.3			

Date: August 27, 2013, LPTV-2013-08-23a.tex

Keywords: random Schrödinger operators, alloy-type model, discrete alloy-type model, integrated density of states, Wegner estimate, single-site potential

MSC2010: 82B44, 60H25, 35J10

6	Uni	form control of resonances	19
7 Localization via multiscale analysis (discrete model)			24
	7.1	Basic notation	24
	7.2	Induction step of the multiscale analysis	25
	7.3	Localization; proof of Theorem 2.6	30
	7.4	Initial scale estimate; proof of Theorem 2.7 and 2.8	34
8	Loc	alization via multiscale analysis (continuous model)	41

1 Introduction

The theory of Anderson localization is concerned with spatial concentration and decay of eigenfunctions, as well as the corresponding dynamical quantities like wave-packets. The interest in these features stems from the quantum theory of disordered media, which provides a relation to transport properties of the modeled medium.

A paradigmatic, and probably the most studied model in the mathematics literature on Anderson localization is the alloy-type potential. The reason for its popularity is that it allows to model structural features of the stochastic field determining the potential explicitly. The features which have attracted most of attention are non-monotonicity, the covering-property, and long-range correlations.

They have been addressed for instance in [Klo95], [Kir96], and [KSS98a], respectively. A further advantage of the alloy-type model is, that it can be treated in the continuum as well as in the discrete setting. In particular, the problem of non-monotonicity in the potential has been tackled in many papers, with intensified interest in recent years, [Klo95], [Ves01, Ves02], [HK02], [KN09], [KV06], [Bou09], [Ves10a],[Ves10b], [ETV10, ETV11], [Krü12], [CE12], [ESS12].

The main results of the paper at hand are the following:

- A new Wegner estimate valid for discrete as well as continuum alloy-type models.
- Along the way we give an explicit construction of strictly positive linear combinations of translates of single-site potentials.
- Compatibility of non-monotonicity with long-range interactions in the multiscale analysis proof of interactions. This has been obtained by [Krü12] for the discrete model. We show that this holds in the continuum case as well.

Our implementation of the multiscale analysis (MSA in the following) is a different one than Krüger's. Rather that relying on [Bou09], we use the strategy of [KSS98a]. This results in a much simpler version of the MSA. For the discrete alloy-type model we give a detailed proof, accessible also to non-specialists.

For the continuum analogue we establish a result on the control of resonances, which allows to merge into the MSA presented in [KSS98a].

In a separate Section 3 we discuss the methodical and physical implications of negative (sign-changing single-site potential) and long range (non-compactly supported single-site potential) correlations.

2 Model and results

2.1 Model and basic notation

We first introduce the continuous model. The *alloy-type model* is given by the family of Schrödinger operators

$$H_{\omega} := H_0 + V_{\omega} \text{ on } L^2(\mathbb{R}^d), \quad H_0 := -\Delta + V_0, \quad \omega \in \Omega,$$

where $-\Delta$ is the negative Laplacian, $V_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ -periodic potential, and V_{ω} denotes the multiplication by the \mathbb{Z}^d -ergodic random field

$$V_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \omega_k U(x-k).$$

The so-called *coupling constants* ω_k , $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$, are assumed to be independent identically distributed (i.i.d.) random variables according to a probability measure μ with bounded support. Hence the probability space has a product structure $\Omega := \times_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \operatorname{supp} \mu$, is equipped with the σ -Algebra \mathcal{F} generated by the cylinder sets and the probability measure $\mathbb{P} := \otimes_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \mu$. The corresponding expectation is denoted by \mathbb{E} , i.e. $\mathbb{E}(\cdot) := \int_{\Omega} (\cdot) \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{d}\omega)$. For a set $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$, \mathbb{E}_{Γ} denotes the expectation with respect to ω_k , $k \in \Gamma$. That is, $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}(\cdot) := \int_{\Omega_{\Gamma}} \prod_{k \in \Gamma} \mu(\mathrm{d}\omega_k)$ where $\Omega_{\Gamma} := \times_{k \in \Gamma} \mathbb{R}$.

The function $U : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is called *single-site potential*. Throughout this paper we assume that V_0 and V_{ω} are infinitesimally bounded with respect to Δ and that the corresponding constants can be chosen uniform in $\omega \in \Omega$. This is in particular satisfied if U is a so-called *generalized step-function*.

Definition 2.1 (Generalized step-function). Let $L_c^p(\mathbb{R}^d) \ni w \ge \kappa \chi_{(-1/2,1/2)^d}$ with $\kappa > 0$ and p = 2 for $d \le 3$ and p > d/2 for $d \ge 4$, where $L_c^p(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the vector space of $L^p(\mathbb{R})$ functions with compact support. Let $u \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d; \mathbb{R})$. A function $U : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ of the form

$$U(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(k)w(x-k),$$

is called generalized step-function and the function $u : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ a convolution vector. If U is a generalized step-function we define $r = \sup\{\|x\|_{\infty} : w(x) \neq 0\}$.

Recall that any real-valued function on \mathbb{R}^d that is uniformly locally L^p , with p = 2 for $d \leq 3$ and p > d/2 for $d \geq 4$, is infinitesimally bounded with respect to the self-adjoint Laplacian Δ on $W^{2,2}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, see e.g. [RS80, Theorem XIII.96]. This is indeed satisfied for V_{ω} if U is a generalized step-function, since for any unit cube

 $C \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ we have

$$\int_{C} |V_{\omega}(x)|^{p} \mathrm{d}x = \int_{C} \Big| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \omega_{k} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} u(l-k)w(x-l) \Big|^{p} \mathrm{d}x$$
(1)
$$\leq \omega_{+}^{p} \|u\|_{\ell^{1}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})}^{p} \int_{C} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} |w(x-l)|^{p} \mathrm{d}x = \omega_{+}^{p} \|u\|_{\ell^{1}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})}^{p} \|w\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R})}^{p},$$

where $\omega_{+} = \sup\{|t| : t \in \operatorname{supp} \mu\}$. Notice that the upper bound is uniform in $\omega \in \Omega$. Hence, V_0 and V_{ω} are infinitesimally bounded with respect to Δ and the corresponding constants can be chosen uniform in $\omega \in \Omega$. Therefore, H_{ω} is self-adjoint (on the domain of Δ) and bounded from below (uniform in $\omega \in \Omega$).

Let us now introduce the discrete analogue of the alloy-type model. The *discrete* alloy-type model is the family of Schrödinger operators

$$h_{\omega} := h_0 + v_{\omega} \text{ on } \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d), \quad \omega \in \Omega.$$

Here h_0 is the negative discrete Laplacian on $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ given by

$$(h_0\psi)(x) = \sum_{\|x-y\|_1=1} (\psi(x) - \psi(y)).$$

The random part v_{ω} is a multiplication operator by the function

$$v_{\omega}(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \omega_k \, u(x-k)$$

where $u \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d; \mathbb{R})$ is called *single-site potential*. Notice that in the continuous setting, the (discrete) single-site potential u plays the role of a convolution vector to generate the (continuous) single-site potential U in form of a generalized step-function. With other words, the convolution vector of a generalized step-function serves as a single-site potential for our discrete model.

Next we introduce some assumptions on the function u and the measure μ which may or may not hold. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ we denote by $||k||_1 := \sum_{r=1}^d |k_r|$ the ℓ^1 -norm of k.

Assumption (A). There are constants $C, \alpha > 0$ such that for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ we have

$$|u(k)| \le C \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha \|k\|_1}$$

Assumption (A) gives rise to constants $c_u \neq 0$ and $I_0 \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$, both depending only on the function u, i.e. C and α . The constants c_u and I_0 are defined in Section 4, see in particular Eq. (5). We use the shorthand notation $N = ||I_0||_1$. If the mean value $\overline{u} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(k)$ is positive one can choose $I_0 = 0$ and $c_u = \overline{u}$. If $\overline{u} = 0$ then I_0 and c_u depend on the behavior of the generating function associated to u, at the argument value $1 \in \mathbb{C}^d$. Moreover, for any l > 0 we define

$$R_l := \max\left\{2l + \frac{2}{\alpha} \ln \frac{2 \cdot 3^d C}{|c_u|(1 - e^{-\alpha/2})}, \frac{8(d + ||I_0||_1)^2}{\alpha^2}\right\}.$$

Assumption (B). The measure μ has a density $\rho \in BV(\mathbb{R})$.

Here $BV(\mathbb{R})$ denotes the space of functions of finite total variation. A precise definition of this function space is given in Section 5.

Assumption (C). We say that Assumption (C) is satisfied for $\delta > 0$, if there exists a decomposition $u = u_+ - \delta u_-$ with $u_+, u_- \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d; \mathbb{R}^+_0)$, and $||u_-||_1 \leq 1$. For the measure μ we assume supp $\mu = [0, \omega_+]$ for some $\omega_+ > 0$.

The estimates we want to prove concern finite box restrictions of the operator H_{ω} or $h_{\omega}, \omega \in \Omega$. For l > 0 and $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ we denote by

$$\Lambda_l(j) := (-l, l)^d + j \subset \mathbb{R}^d$$

the open cube of side length 2l centered at j. We will use the notation $\Lambda_l := \Lambda_l(0)$. By H^{Λ}_{ω} we denote the restriction of the operator H_{ω} to a bounded open set $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with Dirichlet boundary conditions on $\partial \Lambda$. In the special case when Λ is a cube, H^{Λ}_{ω} will denote the restriction of H_{ω} to Λ either with Dirichlet or with periodic boundary conditions. Let $P_B(H^{\Lambda}_{\omega})$ denote the spectral projection for the operator H^{Λ}_{ω} associated with a Borel set $B \subset \mathbb{R}$. If $\Lambda = \Lambda_l$ we will write H^l_{ω} and $P_B(H^l_{\omega})$ instead of $H^{\Lambda_l}_{\omega}$ and $P_B(H^{\Lambda_l}_{\omega})$. Analogously for the discrete model, for l > 0 and $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ let

$$\mathfrak{C}_l(j) := ([-l,l]^d + j) \cap \mathbb{Z}^d$$

and $\mathfrak{C}_l := \mathfrak{C}(0)$. For $\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ finite we denote the canonical inclusion $\ell^2(\mathfrak{C}) \to \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ by $\iota_{\mathfrak{C}}$ and the adjoint restriction $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) \to \ell^2(\mathfrak{C})$ by $\pi_{\mathfrak{C}}$. The restriction of h_{ω} to \mathfrak{C} is defined by $h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}} := \pi_{\mathfrak{C}} h_0 \iota_{\mathfrak{C}} + \pi_{\mathfrak{C}} v_{\omega} \iota_{\mathfrak{C}} : \ell^2(\mathfrak{C}) \to \ell^2(\mathfrak{C})$. Let $P_B(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}})$ denote the spectral projection for the operator $h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}}$ associated with a Borel set $B \subset \mathbb{R}$ and if l > 0 and $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{C}_l$ we will write h_{ω}^l and $P_B(h_{\omega}^l)$ instead of $h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l}$ and $P_B(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l})$.

2.2 Results on Wegner estimate

Now we are in the position to state our bounds on the expected number of eigenvalues of finite box Hamiltonians H^l_{ω} and h^l_{ω} in a bounded energy interval $[E - \varepsilon, E + \varepsilon] \subset \mathbb{R}$. They are called Wegner estimates [Weg81] and are inequalities of the type

$$\forall l > 0, E \in \mathbb{R}, \varepsilon > 0: \quad \mathbb{E}\left\{ \operatorname{Tr} \left(P_{[E-\varepsilon, E+\varepsilon]}(h_{\omega}^{l}) \right) \right\} \le C_{\mathrm{W}} (2\varepsilon)^{a} (2l+1)^{bd} \quad (2)$$

with some (Wegner-)constant C_W , some $a \leq 1$ and some $b \geq 1$. The exponent a determines the quality of the estimate with respect to the *length of the energy* interval and b the quality with respect to the volume of the cube \mathfrak{C}_l . The best possible estimate is obtained in the case a = 1 and b = 1.

The precise formulation of the Wegner estimate relies on the definition of the quantities r, c_u, I_0, N and R_l introduced above and defined precisely in Section 4.

Theorem 2.2 (Wegner estimate, continuous model). Assume that U is a generalized step-function and that Assumptions (A) and (B) are satisfied. Then there exists $C_{\rm W} = C_{\rm W}(U) > 0$ and N = N(u), such that for any l > 0 and any bounded interval $I := [E_1, E_2] \subset \mathbb{R}$ we have with $\Gamma = \mathfrak{C}_{R_{l+r}}$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}\left\{\operatorname{Tr}\left(P_{I}(H_{\omega}^{l})\right)\right\} \leq e^{E_{2}}C_{W}\|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}}|I|(2l+1)^{2d+N}.$$

Theorem 2.3 (Wegner estimate, discrete model). Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied. Then there exists $C_W = C_W(u) > 0$ and N = N(u) such that for any l > 0 and any bounded interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ we have with $\Gamma = \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}\left\{\mathrm{Tr}\left(P_{I}(h_{\omega}^{l})\right)\right\} \leq C_{\mathrm{W}} \|\rho\|_{\mathrm{Var}} |I| (2l+1)^{2d+N}$$

Of course the same bound follows for the full expectation $\mathbb{E}\{\operatorname{Tr}(P_I(h_{\omega}^l))\}\)$ and $\mathbb{E}\{\operatorname{Tr}(P_I(H_{\omega}^l))\}\)$, respectively. However, in our application it is crucial to be able to work with the partial average \mathbb{E}_{Γ} . The main point of Theorem 2.2 and 2.3 is that no assumption on u (apart from exponential decay) is required. In particular, the sign of u can change arbitrarily. Also, note that the result holds on the whole energy axis.

Remark 2.4 (Continuous model). Theorem 2.2 has been already made available in the preprint [PTV11]. It generalizes or is complementary to earlier results on Wegner estimates. Let us compare the result of Theorem 2.2 to earlier ones of Wegner estimates for alloy-type models with sign-changing single-site potential.

The papers [Klo95, HK02] concern alloy-type Schrödinger operators on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The main result is a Wegner estimate for energies in a neighborhood of the infimum of the spectrum. It applies to arbitrary non-vanishing single-site potentials $u \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and coupling constants with a piecewise absolutely continuous density. The upper bound is linear in the volume of the box and Hölder-continuous in the energy variable.

The papers [Ves02, KV06, Ves10b] establish Wegner estimates for both alloytype Schrödinger operators on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and discrete alloy-type models on $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$. We will discuss now the results of [Ves02, KV06, Ves10b] referring to operators on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. These papers give Wegner estimates that are linear in the volume of the box and Lipschitz continuous in the energy variable. The bounds are valid for all compact intervals along the energy axis. They apply to single-site potentials $U \in L_c^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d)$ of a generalized step function form with a convolution vector satisfying

$$s: \theta \mapsto s(\theta) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(k) e^{-ik \cdot \theta} \text{ does not vanish on } [0, 2\pi)^d.$$
(3)

Remark 2.5 (Discrete model). Theorem 2.3 has been made publicly available in the preprint [PTV11] and generalizes the results established in [Ves10a]. There the same result as in Theorem 2.3 has been established, under the additional assumption that at least one of the following conditions holds:

- (i) $\bar{u} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(k) \neq 0$, or
- (ii) u is finitely supported, or
- (iii) the space dimension satisfies d = 1.

If condition (i) is satisfied, the Wegner bound of [Ves10a] holds for all $u \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ not necessarily of exponential decay. The volume dependence of the upper bound in the Wegner estimate in [Ves10a] is slightly better than ours here. A particularly important case in [Ves10a] is the one when both conditions (i) and (ii) hold. In

this situation the exponent of the length scale can be chosen to be equal to the space dimension d. This corresponds to the volume exponent b = 1 in Ineq. (2), and yields the Lipschitz continuity of the integrated density of states. This is the distribution function $N: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ obtained as the limit

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \frac{1}{(2l+1)^d} \mathbb{E}\left\{ \operatorname{Tr} \left(P_{(-\infty,E]}(h^l_{\omega}) \right) \right\} =: N(E)$$

at all continuity points of N. Consequently its derivative, the density of states, exists for almost all $E \in \mathbb{R}$. While in certain situations where $\bar{u} = 0$, a Wegner estimate was already established in [Ves10a], the improved proof presented here allows more explicit control of the exponent b. The proof in [Ves10a] uses an induction argument over the space dimension, which obscures certain parameter dependencies.

In the new preprint [ESS12] a Wegner estimate for compactly supported singlesite potentials with Hölder continuous distributions was proven.

2.3 Results on localization

The Wegner estimates from the previous subsection may be used as an ingredient for the multiscale analysis. Localization then follows once an appropriate initial scale estimate is satisfied. To keep things short, we restrict ourselves to the discrete model. Similar results may be obtained for the continuous model as well, see the discussion in Section 8. Our main results on localization for the discrete model are formulated in the following three theorems. All of them are proven in Section 7.

Theorem 2.6 (Output of multiscale analysis). Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied, $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ and assume that the initial scale estimate, as formulated in Definition 7.6, holds in I.

Then, for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, $\sigma_c(h_\omega) \cap I = \emptyset$ and the eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalues of h_ω in I decay exponentially.

Theorem 2.6 is an adaptation of the multiscale analysis à la [KSS98a] for the discrete alloy-type model with sign-changing long-range single-site potentials, once the Wegner estimate from Theorem 2.3 is available.

Once the initial scale estimate is verified, Theorem 2.6 gives localization. The proof of Theorem 2.6 is based on multiscale analysis in the manner of [vDK89, KSS98a] using our Wegner estimate as an ingredient, and finally applying Theorem 2.3 of [vDK89]. More precisely, we need a slight generalization of this theorem since they consider the i.i.d. Anderson model only. We show in fact that Theorem 2.3 of [vDK89] stays valid for general families of self-adjoint operators, cf. Theorem 7.8.

If the single-site potential u has fixed sign, the validity of the initial scale estimate is well known, see e.g. [KSS98b, KSS98a]. If the single-site potential changes sign, far less is known. We prove the initial scale estimate in the case of large disorder for all energies if the single-site potential decays exponentially. The proof is in the manner of [Kir08, Ves10a] and is based on the so-called uniform control of resonances, which we provide for our model in Section 6. At the infimum of the spectrum we verify the initial scale estimate if the single-site potential has a small negative part, including the case of unbounded support of the single-site potential. This is a generalization of [Ves01, Ves02], where similar results have been shown for compactly supported single-site potentials. The paper [CE12] proves the an initial length scale estimate at weak disorder for exponential decaying sign-changing single-site potentials in the case d = 3. However, this result can be applied as an ingredient for the multiscale analysis only for compactly supported single-site potentials, since they prove a non-uniform version only. In this case a multiscale analysis requires independence at distance.

Theorem 2.7 (Localization, large disorder). Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied and $\|\rho\|_{\text{BV}}$ be sufficiently small. Then, for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, $\sigma_c(h_\omega) = \emptyset$ and the eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalues of h_ω decay exponentially.

Theorem 2.8 (Localization, small negative part of u). Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied and $\overline{u} > 0$. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, such that if Assumption (C) is satisfied for δ , then, for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$, $\sigma_{c}(h_{\omega}) \cap [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon] = \emptyset$ and the eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalues of h_{ω} decay exponentially.

Remark 2.9 (Localization, continuous model). Based on the Wegner estimate from Theorem 2.2 and the uniform control of resonances from Proposition 6.3 for the continuous model, similar results to those of Theorem 2.6, 2.7 and 2.8 follow for the continuous alloy-type model on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with a generalized step function as a single-site potential. This is discussed in detail in Section 8.

Remark 2.10. Recently Krüger [Krü12] has obtained results on localization for a class of discrete alloy-type models which includes the ones considered here. The results rely on the multiscale analysis and the use of Cartan's lemma in the spirit as is has been used earlier, e.g. in [Bou09].

There has been also recent progress for discrete alloy-type models for localization proofs via the fractional moment method. In [TV10b] boundedness of fractional moments of the Greens function was established under condition (3). In [ETV10, ETV11] finite volume criteria for a localization proof via the fractional moment method were established. The best results so far in this setting have been obtained in the recent preprint [ESS12]. There fractional moment bounds and localization for a class of matrix valued Anderson models, as well as discrete alloy-type models has been derived.

3 Non-monotonicity and long range interactions

The results of the paper address several challenges present in the theory of Anderson localization. Here we will discuss these aspects first separately, and then how they interact. We will make clear how this is manifested in the methodical implementation of the proof on the one hand, and the underlying physical phenomena on the other.

While in the theory of Anderson localization one is ultimately interested in spatial concentration and decay of eigenfunctions, as well as corresponding dynamical quantities like wave packets, a crucial intermediate stage of the analysis concerns the regularity of the distribution of spectral data.

More precisely, one needs to understand how the regularity properties of the stochastic process defining the random potential, or more precisely of its distribution measure, translate into regularity of the distribution of various spectral quantities. Particular aspects of the random potential of alloy-type having effect on regularity of spectral data are the following:

Sign change of the single-site potential and negative correlations

The first Wegner estimates and localization proofs for alloy-type potentials concerned non-negative single-site potentials. This implies that the quadratic form associated with the random Hamiltonian and thus the eigenvalues are monotone functions of the coupling constants. This facilitates rather explicit averaging estimates. Later on Wegner estimates were developed for sign-changing single-site potentials as well, see the discussion in Section 1. The problem of non-monotonicity is not just a technical effect of the methods of proof. For instance, a random perturbation of vanishing mean will not induce effective averaging of spectral data on the level of first order perturbation theory. This is reflected in Theorem 2.3 concerning a Wegner estimate. The constant C_u there captures the vanishing and non-vanishing of moments associated to the single-site perturbation. To overcome the problems posed by non-monotonicity we employ averaging over local environments: While in the monotone situation typically averaging over the random variables associated to matrix coefficients of a Hamiltonian on a finite volume subsystem is sufficient to regularize spectral data, we average over the surrounding randomness as well.

Regularity of the single-site marginal distribution

It goes without saying that this feature is crucial for the smoothness of the distribution of spectral data.

From our results concerning sign-changing single-site potentials we have to require more regularity than for the analogous statements with semidefinite perturbations. While this is a restriction it appears naturally in this context, see e.g. [Klo95, Ves01, Ves02, HK02]. It is quite remarkable that [Krü12] implements a multiscale analysis which does not need weak differentiability of the single-site distribution. However, he obtains a weaker Wegner estimate than ours. The recent preprint [ESS12] can even treat Hölder continuous single-site distributions in the framework of the fractional moment method, for the strong disorder regime.

Long range correlation

A single-site potential u of non-compact support induces correlations at infinite distances. While this does not affect the proof of the Wegner estimate itself, it does its use in the multiscale analysis. A sufficiently fast decay of the single-site potential ensures that resonant energies in different regions are sufficiently decorrelated, cf. [KSS98a] and Section 6 here.

Simultaneous long-range and negative correlations

In the literature on alloy-type models sign-changing single-site potentials (resulting in negative correlations of the stochastic field $V_{\omega}(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d$) and non-compactly supported single-site potentials (resulting in long range correlations of the stochastic field) are treated separately, see however the recent [Krü12].

In the models we consider, both on the lattice and the continuum, both difficulties are present, which posed an additional challenge for the understanding of the physical phenomena leading to averaging of spectral data and ultimately to localization. On first sight one might ask whether the two difficulties are intertwined at all or can they simply be treated separately.

It turns out that this is not the case, as our proof shows, reflecting an inherent mechanism of non-monotone averaging. To obtain a Wegner estimate for a Hamiltonian on a finite box we need to average not only over the random variables contained in the box, but over a surrounding belt as well, growing with the size of the box.

This shows that although negative correlations are a-priori a local phenomenon, they cannot be controlled without taking care of long range correlations of the potential as well. Furthermore, non-monotonicity of our model results in a weaker Wegner estimate (the volume term appears with a controllable, but possibly high power). This is the reason why we can treat only exponentially decaying signchanging single-site potentials. An extension of our results to a restricted class of polynomially decaying potentials is possible, but is very technical.

In other work [TV10a, TV13b, TV13a] two of us have derived complementary results concerning alloy-type models on the lattice, which shed new light on the result of this paper. The contributions [TV10a, TV13b] concern the question to what extend discrete alloy-type potentials are a good way to model correlated fields on the lattice. There exist abstract conditions [vDK91, ASFH01] on stochastic fields on \mathbb{Z}^d which ensure that a proof of localization can be carried out following the multiscale analysis or the fractional moment method. They apply to a class of Gaussian fields (but not all).

However, for discrete alloy-type potentials the abstract conditions are not satisfied, as long as the coupling constants and the support of the single-site potential are bounded. Moreover, discrete alloy-type potentials are used in other areas of mathematics under the name of multidimensional moving average processes. So, they can be considered as a class of its own for modeling correlated potentials of the Anderson model.

In this paper we establish for a class of random Hamiltonians, among others, exponential localization in a specified energy region, i.e. almost sure exponential decay of eigenfunctions. In the papers [Krü12, ESS12] for a closely related class of models on the lattice dynamical localization was established. In the continuum setting there is a general paradigm [GK01] that various forms of localization, including exponential and dynamical coincide under natural assumptions on the model. For this reason one denotes the corresponding energy interval as the region of complete localization.

In the physics community localization is interpreted in terms of decay of correlations (of Green's and eigenfunctions), in terms of the inverse participation ratio, and eigenvalue statistics. Thus it is desirable that the region of complete localization can be characterized in terms of these notions as well.

There have been efforts and (modest) progress in this direction. Specifically,

starting with the paper [Mol81] there have been mathematically rigorous results on Poisson statistics of eigenvalues. While [Mol81] concerns a continuum model in one dimension, [Min96] established Poisson-statistics in the localized regime for the Anderson model on \mathbb{Z}^d in arbitrary dimension. Subsequently there was further progress in this direction, cf. [GV07, BHS07, CGK09, GK13, GK12]. In a recent paper [TV13a] we showed that the result of Minami can be extended to a certain class of discrete alloy-type, and Poisson statistics of eigenvalues follows along [GK13].

While the class of potentials treated in [TV13a] is quite restricted, it is the first rigorous result, a part from one-dimensional ones, where the random variables couple to a perturbation which is not of rank one.

4 Positive combinations of translated single-site potentials

In this section we consider (possibly infinite) linear combinations of translates of the (discrete) single-site potential u. In this section we assume that Assumption (A) holds, i.e. there are constants $C, \alpha > 0$ such that

$$|u(k)| \le C \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha \|k\|_1},\tag{4}$$

and that u is distinct from the zero function. Under these hypotheses we identify a sequence of coefficients such that the resulting linear combination is uniformly positive on the whole space \mathbb{Z}^d (cf. Proposition 4.1) or some finite subset of \mathbb{Z}^d (cf. Proposition 4.2).

First we introduce the following multi-index notation: If $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $z \in \mathbb{C}^d$, we define

$$z^I = z_1^{i_1} \cdot z_2^{i_2} \cdot \ldots \cdot z_d^{i_d},$$

and if $I \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$, we define

$$D_z^I = \frac{\partial^{i_1}}{\partial z_1^{i_1}} \cdot \frac{\partial^{i_2}}{\partial z_2^{i_2}} \cdot \ldots \cdot \frac{\partial^{i_d}}{\partial z_d^{i_d}}, \quad I! = i_1! \cdot i_2! \cdot \ldots \cdot i_d!.$$

We also introduce comparison symbols for multi-indices: If $I, J \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$, we write $J \leq I$ if we have $j_r \leq i_r$ for all r = 1, 2, ..., d, and we write J < I if $J \leq I$ and $\|J\|_1 < \|I\|_1$. For $J \leq I$, we use the short hand notation

$$\binom{I}{J} = \binom{i_1}{j_1} \cdot \binom{i_2}{j_2} \cdot \ldots \cdot \binom{i_d}{j_d}.$$

Finally, **0**, **1** denote the vectors $(0, \ldots, 0)$ and $(1, \ldots, 1) \in \mathbb{C}^d$, respectively.

We also recall the following facts from multidimensional complex analysis. Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}^d$ be open. We call a complex valued function $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ holomorphic, if every point $w \in D$ has an open neighborhood $U, w \in U \subset D$, such that f has a power series expansion around w, which converges to f(z) for all $z \in U$. Osgood's lemma tells us that, if $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ is continuous and holomorphic in each variable separately (in the sense of one-dimensional complex analysis), then f is holomorphic, see [GR09]. Let $f_n: D \to \mathbb{C}$ be a sequence of holomorphic functions. We say that

 $\sum_{n} f_n$ converges normally in D, if for every $w \in D$ there is an open neighborhood $U, w \in U \subset D$, such that $\sum_{n} ||f_n||_{U,\infty} < \infty$. Normally convergent sequences of holomorphic functions can be rearranged arbitrarily, the limit is again holomorphic, and differentiation can be carried out termwise, which follows from Weierstrass' theorem, see [Rem84, p. 226] for the one-dimensional case and [Nar95, p. 7] for the higher dimensional case.

For $\delta \in (0, 1 - e^{-\alpha})$ we consider the to u associated generating function $F : D_{\delta} \subset \mathbb{C}^d \to \mathbb{C}$,

$$D_{\delta} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^d : |z_1 - 1| < \delta, \dots, |z_d - 1| < \delta \}, \quad F(z) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(-k) z^k.$$

Notice that the sum $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(-k) z^k$ is normally convergent in D_{δ} by our choice of δ and the exponential decay condition (4). By Weierstrass' theorem, F is a holomorphic function. Since F is holomorphic and not identically zero, we have $(D_z^I F)(\mathbf{1}) \neq 0$ for at least one $I \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$. Therefore, there exists a multi-index $I_0 \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$ (not necessarily unique), such that we have

$$(D_z^I F)(\mathbf{1}) = \begin{cases} c_u \neq 0, & \text{if } I = I_0, \\ 0, & \text{if } I < I_0. \end{cases}$$
(5)

Such a I_0 can be found by diagonal inspection: Let $n \ge 0$ be the largest integer such that $D_z^I F(\mathbf{1}) = 0$ for all $||I||_1 < n$. Then choose a multi-index $I_0 \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$, $||I_0||_1 = n$ with $(D_z^{I_0}F)(\mathbf{1}) \ne 0$.

Proposition 4.1. Let u, c_u and I_0 be as in (4) and (5). Let further $I \in \mathbb{N}_0^d$ with $I \leq I_0$, and define $a : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{Z}$ by

$$a(k) = k^I.$$

Then we have for all $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} a(k)u(x-k) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } I < I_0, \\ c_u, & \text{if } I = I_0. \end{cases}$$
(6)

Proof. We introduce, again, a bit of notation. For $s \in \mathbb{C}^d$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ let

$$\mathbf{e}^s = (\mathbf{e}^{s_1}, \dots, \mathbf{e}^{s_d})$$
 and $\langle k, s \rangle = \sum_{r=1}^d k_r s_r.$

Let $I \leq I_0$. Then the chain rule yields (for all $s \in C_{\delta} := \{s \in \mathbb{C}^d : e^s \in D_{\delta}\}$)

$$D_s^I(F(\mathbf{e}^s)) = \sum_{J \le I} c_J (D_z^J F)(\mathbf{e}^s) \, \mathbf{e}^{\langle J, s \rangle}$$

= $(D_z^I F)(\mathbf{e}^s) \, \mathbf{e}^{\langle I, s \rangle} + \sum_{J < I} c_J (D_z^J F)(\mathbf{e}^s) \, \mathbf{e}^{\langle J, s \rangle},$

with suitable integers $c_J \ge 1$ and, in particular, $c_I = 1$. This and Eq. (5) imply that

$$D_{s}^{I}(F(e^{s}))\big|_{s=0} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } I < I_{0}, \\ c_{I_{0}}(D_{z}^{I_{0}}F)(\mathbf{1}) = c_{u}, & \text{if } I = I_{0}. \end{cases}$$
(7)

Next, we use the identity $a(k) = k^I = D_s^I e^{\langle k, s \rangle} |_{s=0}$. Note that the series $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(x-k) e^{\langle k, s \rangle}$ converges normally on the domain

$$E_{\alpha} = \{ s \in \mathbb{C}^d \mid -\alpha < \operatorname{Re}(s_j) < \alpha \text{ for all } j = 1, 2, \dots, d \}$$

Therefore, we can rearrange arbitrarily, differentiate componentwise, and obtain for all $s \in C_{\delta} \cap E_{\alpha}$ by substitution $\nu = k - x$ and the product rule

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(x-k) D_s^I e^{\langle k,s \rangle} = D_s^I \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(x-k) e^{\langle k,s \rangle}$$
$$= D_s^I \left(e^{\langle x,s \rangle} \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(-\nu) e^{\langle \nu,s \rangle} \right) = D_s^I \left(F(e^s) e^{\langle x,s \rangle} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{J \le I} {I \choose J} \left(D_s^J F(e^s) \right) D_s^{I-J} e^{\langle x,s \rangle}.$$

Finally, evaluating at s = 0 and using (7) yields

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} a(k)u(x-k) = \sum_{J \le I} {I \choose J} (D_s^J F(\mathbf{e}^s)) \big|_{s=\mathbf{0}} (D_s^{I-J}(\mathbf{e}^{\langle x,s \rangle}) \big|_{s=\mathbf{0}}$$
$$= \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } I < I_0, \\ c_u, & \text{if } I = I_0. \end{cases} \qquad \Box$$

In Proposition 4.1 we identified a sequence of coefficients such that the associated linear combination of translated single-site potentials is positive on the whole of \mathbb{Z}^d . However, the sequence cannot be used for Theorem 5.1 and 5.1 directly. This problem can be resolved if we take into consideration that the positivity assumption in Theorem 5.1 and 5.2 concerns lattice sites in Λ_l respectively \mathfrak{C}_l only.

Recall that the constants d, α, C and c_u are all determined by the choice of the exponentially decreasing function $u : \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$. Now we choose $I = I_0$ in Proposition 4.1. The next proposition tells us, for all integer vectors x in the box \mathfrak{C}_l , how far we have to exhaust \mathbb{Z}^d in the sum (6), in order to guarantee that the result is $\geq c_u/2$ (assuming for a moment that $c_u > 0$). The exhaustion is described by the integer indices in another box \mathfrak{C}_R , and the proposition describes the relation between the sizes l and R. For large enough l, this relation is linear.

Proposition 4.2. Let u, c_u and I_0 be as in (4) and (5). Let further l > 0 and define

$$R_{l} := \max\left\{2l + \frac{2}{\alpha}\ln\frac{23^{d}C}{|c_{u}|(1 - e^{-\alpha/2})}, \frac{8(d + ||I_{0}||_{1})^{2}}{\alpha^{2}}\right\}.$$
(8)

Then we have for all $x \in \mathfrak{C}_l$

$$\frac{2}{c_u}\sum_{k\in\mathfrak{C}_{R_l}}k^{I_0}\,u(x-k)\geq 1.$$

Proof. We know from Proposition 4.1 that

$$\frac{1}{c_u}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}k^{I_0}u(x-k)=1,$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. Thus we need to prove, for $x \in \mathfrak{C}_l = \mathbb{Z}^d \cap [-l, l]^d$, that

$$\Big|\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d\setminus\mathfrak{C}_{R_l}}k^{I_0}u(x-k)\Big|\leq\frac{|c_u|}{2}.$$
(9)

Using the triangle inequality $||x - k||_{\infty} + ||x||_{\infty} \ge ||k||_{\infty}$, $||k||_{\infty} \le ||k||_1$, and that u is exponentially decreasing, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}} k^{I_0} u(x-k) \right| &\leq C \mathrm{e}^{\alpha \|x\|_{\infty}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}} \|k\|_{\infty}^{\|I_0\|_1} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha \|k\|_{\infty}} \\ &\leq C \mathrm{e}^{\alpha l} \sum_{r=\lceil R_l \rceil}^{\infty} (2r+1)^d \, r^{\|I_0\|_1} \, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha r} \\ &\leq C 3^d \mathrm{e}^{\alpha l} \sum_{r=\lceil R_l \rceil}^{\infty} r^{d+\|I_0\|_1} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha r}. \end{split}$$

Here $\lceil x \rceil = \min\{k \in \mathbb{Z} : k \ge x\}$. Using Lemma 4.3 below and $r \ge R_l \ge [8(d + \|I_0\|_1)^2]/\alpha^2$, we conclude that $r^{d+\|I_0\|_1} \le e^{\alpha r/2}$, which implies that

$$\Big|\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d\backslash\mathfrak{C}_{R_l}}k^{I_0}\,u(x-k)\Big|\leq C3^d\mathrm{e}^{\alpha l}\sum_{r=\lceil R_l\rceil}^{\infty}\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha r/2}=C3^d\mathrm{e}^{\alpha l}\frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha\lceil R_l\rceil/2}}{1-\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha/2}}.$$

Finally, using $\lceil R_l \rceil \ge 2l + (2/\alpha) \ln(2 \cdot 3^d C/(|c_u|(1 - e^{-\alpha/2}))))$, we conclude Ineq. (9) which ends the proof.

Lemma 4.3. Let $M, \alpha > 0$. Then

$$n \ge \frac{8M^2}{\alpha^2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad n^M < e^{\alpha n/2}.$$

Proof. If $n \ge 8M^2/\alpha^2$ then

$$n \le \frac{\alpha^2 n^2}{8M^2}.$$

Since

$$e^{\frac{lpha n}{2M}} = 1 + \frac{lpha n}{2M} + \frac{lpha^2 n^2}{8M^2} + \dots > \frac{lpha^2 n^2}{8M^2},$$

we conclude that $n \leq e^{\alpha n/(2M)}$, or, equivalently, $n^M \leq e^{\alpha n/2}$.

5 Abstract Wegner estimates; proof of Theorem 2.2 and 2.3

Recall that the space of functions of finite total variation $BV(\mathbb{R})$ is the set of integrable functions $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ whose distributional derivatives are signed measures with finite variation, i.e.

 $BV(\mathbb{R}) := \{ f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R} \mid f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}), \ Df \text{ is a signed measure, } |Df|(\mathbb{R}) < \infty \}.$

To say that a distributional derivative Df of a function $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R})$ is a signed measure means that there exists a regular signed Borel measure ν on \mathbb{R} such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi \mathrm{d}\nu = -\int_{\mathbb{R}} f \phi' \mathrm{d}x$$

for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$. A norm on $BV(\mathbb{R})$ is defined by $||f||_{BV(\mathbb{R})} := ||f||_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} + ||f||_{Var}$, where

$$||f||_{\operatorname{Var}} := |Df|(\mathbb{R}) = \sup \Big\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}} fv' \mathrm{d}x \colon v \in C_{\operatorname{c}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), \ |v| \le 1 \Big\}.$$

Note that if $f \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$ then $f \in BV(\mathbb{R})$. In particular, one has the equalities $\|f\|_{W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})} = \|f\|_{BV(\mathbb{R})}$ and $\|f\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = \|f\|_{Var}$ provided the norms are well defined.

In [KV06] an abstract Wegner estimate for the continuous model was established, which we will be able to use in our situation. Let us first fix some notation. For an open set $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $\tilde{\Lambda}$ is the set of lattice sites $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ such that the characteristic function of the cube $\Lambda_{1/2}(j)$ does not vanish identically on Λ . For $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ we denote by χ_j the characteristic function of the cube $\Lambda_{1/2}(j)$.

Theorem 5.1 ([KV06]). Let Assumption (B) be satisfied and assume there is $l_0 > 0$ such that for arbitrary $l \ge l_0$ and every $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$ there is a compactly supported sequence $t_{j,l} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d; \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} t_{j,n}(k) U(x-k) \ge \chi_j(x) \quad for \ all \quad x \in \Lambda_l.$$

Let further $I := [E_1, E_2]$ be an arbitrary interval. Then for any $l \ge l_0$

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}\{\operatorname{Tr} P_{I}(H_{\omega}^{l})\} \leq C e^{E_{2}} \|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}} |I| \sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_{l}} \|t_{j,l}\|_{\ell^{1}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})},$$

where C is a constant independent of l and I and $\Gamma = \bigcup_{i \in \Lambda_l} \operatorname{supp} t_{j,l}$.

In [KV06] this theorem was stated for compactly supported $U : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ and with the partial average $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}(\ldots)$ replaced by the total average $\mathbb{E}(\ldots)$. That the theorem holds in the slightly stronger form stated here can be seen by following the proof of Theorem 5.2 treating the discrete case.

Theorem 5.2 (Discrete analogue of [KV06]). Let Assumption (B) be satisfied and assume there is $l_0 > 0$ such that for arbitrary $l \ge l_0$ and every $j \in \mathfrak{C}_l$ there is a compactly supported sequence $t_{j,l} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ such that

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} t_{j,l}(k) u(x-k) \ge \delta_j(x) \quad for \ all \quad x \in \mathfrak{C}_l.$$

Let further $I := [E_1, E_2]$ be an arbitrary interval. Then for any $l \ge l_0$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}\{\operatorname{Tr} P_{I}(h_{\omega}^{l})\} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}} |I| \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l}} \|t_{j,l}\|_{\ell^{1}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})},$$

where $\Gamma = \bigcup_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_l} \operatorname{supp} t_{j,l}$.

For the proof of Theorem 5.2 we will use an estimate on averages of spectral projections of certain self-adjoint operators. More precisely, let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space and consider the following operators on \mathcal{H} . Let H be self-adjoint, W symmetric and H-bounded, J bounded and non-negative with $J^2 \leq W$, $H(\zeta) = H + \zeta W$ for $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$, and $P_I(H(\zeta))$ the corresponding spectral projection onto an Interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$. Then, for any $g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}), \psi \in \mathcal{H}$ with $\|\psi\| = 1$ and bounded interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \langle \psi, JP_I(H(\zeta)) J\psi \rangle g(\zeta) \mathrm{d}\zeta \le \|g\|_{\infty} |I|.$$
(10)

For a proof of Ineq. (10) we refer to [CH94] where compactly supported g is considered. The non-compactly supported case was first treated in [FHLM97], see also [Ves08, Lemma 5.3.2] for a detailed proof.

Proof of Theorem 5.2. In order to estimate the terms of the sum in the expectation $\mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}\{\operatorname{Tr} P_{I}(h_{\omega}^{l})\} = \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l}} \mathbb{E}_{\Gamma}\{\|P_{I}(h_{\omega}^{l})\delta_{j}\|^{2}\}$ we fix $l \geq l_{0}$ and $j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l}$, and set $\Sigma = \operatorname{supp} t_{j,l} \subset \mathbb{Z}^{d}$ and $t = t_{j,l}$. Recall that

$$h_{\omega}^{l} = \pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{l}} h_{0} \iota_{\mathfrak{C}_{l}} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d} \setminus \Sigma} \omega_{k} u(\cdot - k) + \sum_{k \in \Sigma} \omega_{k} u(\cdot - k).$$

We pick some $o \in \Sigma$ with $t(o) \neq 0$ and denote by M the finite dimensional linear (and invertible) transformation $(\eta_k)_{k\in\Sigma} \mapsto (\omega_k)_{k\in\Sigma} = M(\eta_k)_{k\in\Sigma}$ defined as follows: $\omega_o = t(o)\eta_o$ and $\omega_k = t(k)\eta_o + t(o)\eta_k$ for $k \in \Sigma \setminus \{o\}$. Note that M is invertible and $|\det M| = |t(o)|^{|\Sigma|}$. With this transformation there holds for arbitrary fixed $(\omega_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d\setminus\Sigma}$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{|\Sigma|}} \left\| P_I(h_{\omega}^l) \delta_j \right\|^2 \prod_{k \in \Sigma} \rho(\omega_k) \mathrm{d}\omega_k = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{|\Sigma|}} \left\| P_I(h_{\omega,\eta}^l) \delta_j \right\|^2 k(\eta) \mathrm{d}\eta,$$

where $\eta = (\eta_k)_{k \in \Sigma}$, $d\eta = \prod_{k \in \Sigma} d\eta_k$,

$$k(\eta) = |t(o)|^{|\Sigma|} \rho(t(o)\eta_o) \prod_{k \in \Sigma \setminus \{o\}} \rho(t(k)\eta_o + t(o)\eta_k),$$

and

$$h^l_{\omega,\eta} := \pi_{\mathfrak{C}_l} h_0 \iota_{\mathfrak{C}_l} + \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \backslash \Sigma} \omega_k u(\cdot - k) + t(o) \sum_{k \in \Sigma \backslash \{o\}} \eta_k u(\cdot - k) + \eta_o \sum_{k \in \Sigma} t(k) u(\cdot - k).$$

We denote by $P_j : \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) \to \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ the orthogonal projection given by $P_j \phi = \phi(j)\delta_j$ and apply Ineq. (10) with the choice $H = h_{\omega,\eta}^l - \eta_o \sum_{k \in \Sigma} t(k)u(\cdot - k)$, $W = \sum_{k \in \Sigma} t(k)u(\cdot - k)$, $\zeta = \eta_o$ and $J = P_j$. This gives by Lebesgue's theorem

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{|\Sigma|}} \left\| P_I(h_{\omega}^l) \delta_j \right\|^2 \prod_{k \in \Sigma} \rho(\omega_k) \mathrm{d}\omega_k \le |I| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{|\Sigma|-1}} \sup_{\eta_o \in \mathbb{R}} |k(\eta)| \prod_{k \in \Sigma \setminus \{o\}} \mathrm{d}\eta_k.$$
(11)

If $\rho \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$, we use $\sup_{\eta_o \in \mathbb{R}} |k(\eta)| \leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\partial_o k| d\eta_o$. By the product rule we obtain for the partial derivative (while substituting back into original coordinates)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \eta_o} k(\eta) = |t(o)|^{|\Sigma|} \sum_{k \in \Sigma} t(k) \rho'(\omega_k) \prod_{j \in \Sigma \setminus \{k\}} \rho(\omega_j).$$

Hence, the right hand side of Ineq. (11) is bounded by $\frac{1}{2}|I|\|\rho'\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})}\sum_{k\in\Sigma}|t(k)|$. Since all the steps were independent of $j \in \mathfrak{C}_l$, we in turn obtain the statement of the theorem in the case $\rho \in W^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$. We use the fact that for ρ of bounded total variation and compact support there is sequence $\rho_k \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), k \in \mathbb{N}$, such that $\|\rho_k\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\lim_{k\to\infty} \|\rho_k\|_{\mathrm{Var}} = \|\rho\|_{\mathrm{Var}}$ and $\lim_{k\to\infty} \|\rho_k - \rho\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 0$, see e.g. [Zie89] or Lemma 5.3 below. Since $\|\rho_k\|_{\mathrm{Var}} = \|\rho'_k\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})}$ for $\rho_k \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, the same consideration as above gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{|\Sigma|}} \left\| P_I(h^l_{\omega}) \delta_j \right\|^2 \prod_{i \in \Sigma} \rho_k(\omega_i) \mathrm{d}\omega_i \le \frac{1}{2} |I| \|\rho_k\|_{\mathrm{Var}} \sum_{k \in \Sigma} |t(k)| \tag{12}$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. By a limiting argument, see [KV06] for details, one obtains Ineq. (12) with ρ_k replaced by ρ . This proves the theorem.

Lemma 5.3. Let $u : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$ be a function of finite variation and bounded support. Assume additionally $||u||_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 1$. Then there exists a sequence $u_k \in C_c^\infty$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, such that $||u_k||_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|u_k\|_{\operatorname{Var}} = \|u\|_{\operatorname{Var}} \tag{13}$$

and

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|u_k - u\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 0.$$
(14)

Proof. Let $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be non-negative with $\operatorname{supp} \phi \subset [-1,1]$ and $\|\phi\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 1$. For $\varepsilon > 0$ set $\phi_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$, $\phi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{-1}\phi(x/\varepsilon)$. The function ϕ_{ε} belongs to $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and fulfills $\|\phi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} = 1$. Now consider $u_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_0^+$,

$$u_{\varepsilon}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi_{\varepsilon}(x-y)u(y) \mathrm{d}y.$$

Obviously, $u_{\varepsilon} \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and by Fubini's theorem $||u_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R})} = 1$. The proof of the relation (14) is due to Theorem 1.6.1 in [Zie89]. For the proof of the relation (13),

first note

$$\begin{split} \|u\|_{\operatorname{Var}} &= |Du|(\mathbb{R}) = \sup\left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}} uv' \mathrm{d}x \colon v \in C_{\operatorname{c}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), \ |v| \leq 1\right\} \\ &= \sup\left\{\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} u_{\varepsilon}v' \mathrm{d}x \colon v \in C_{\operatorname{c}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), \ |v| \leq 1\right\} \\ &\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} |Du_{\varepsilon}|(\mathbb{R}) = \liminf_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{\operatorname{Var}}, \end{split}$$

since u_{ε} converges to u in $L^1(\mathbb{R})$ and v' is bounded. Let now $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with $|\psi| \leq 1$ and set $\psi_{\varepsilon} = \phi_{\varepsilon} * \psi$. Then we have by Fubini's theorem

$$\|u\|_{\operatorname{Var}} \ge \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} u\psi_{\varepsilon}' \mathrm{d}x\right| = \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} u(\psi * \phi_{\varepsilon})' \mathrm{d}x\right| = \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} \psi'(u * \phi_{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}x\right| = \left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} u_{\varepsilon}\psi' \mathrm{d}x\right|.$$

Taking supremum over all such ψ gives $||u||_{Var} \ge ||u_{\varepsilon}||_{Var}$. This proves the lemma.

Assume Assumption (A), i.e. that there are $C, \alpha \in (0, \infty)$ such that $|u(x)| \leq Ce^{-\alpha ||x||_1}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. Let I_0 and $c_u \neq 0$ be as in Eq. (5). In Section 4 we constructed for each l > 0 a number $R_l > 0$ such that

$$\frac{2}{c_u} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}} k^{I_0} u(x-k) \ge 1 \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathfrak{C}_l.$$
(15)

This fact is proven in Proposition 4.2 and we apply it for the continuous model if U is a generalized step-function with a exponential decaying convolution vector and for the discrete model with exponential decaying single-site potential to verify the hypothesis of Theorem 5.1 and 5.2.

Proof of Theorem 2.3. Let $l_0 > 0$ be arbitrary. By Ineq. (15) (respectively Proposition 4.2), the hypothesis of Theorem 5.2 is satisfied with the choice $t_{j,l} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ given by

$$t_{j,l}(k) = \begin{cases} 2k^{I_0}/c_u & \text{if } k \in \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}, \\ 0 & \text{else}, \end{cases}$$

for $l \geq l_0$ and $j \in \mathfrak{C}_l$. It follows for all $l \geq l_0$ and $j \in \mathfrak{C}_l$ that $\Gamma = \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}$ and

$$\sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_l} \|t_{j,l}\|_{\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)} \le \frac{2}{|c_u|} (2l+1)^d \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}} |k^{I_0}| \le \frac{2}{|c_u|} (2l+1)^d (2R_l+1)^d R_l^{\|I_0\|_1}.$$

Recall that by Proposition 4.2, $R_l = \max\{2l + D, D'\} < 2l + D + D'$ with D and D' depending only on the single-site potential u. Hence there is a constant $C_W > 0$ depending only on the single-site potential u such that

$$\sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_l} \|t_{j,l}\|_{\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)} \le C_{\mathrm{W}}(2l+1)^{2d+\|I_0\|_1}.$$

By Theorem 5.2, this completes the proof.

Proof of Theorem 2.2. Recall that U is a generalized step function and that $w \ge \kappa \chi_{[-1/2,1/2]^d}$ has compact support. Also recall, that for an open set $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $\tilde{\Lambda}$ is the set of lattice sites $j \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ such that the characteristic function of the cube $\Lambda_{1/2}(j)$ does not vanish identically on Λ . Recall $r = \sup\{\|x\|_{\infty} : w(x) \neq 0\}$. Let $l_0 > 0$ be arbitrary and $t_{j,l} \in \ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ given by

$$t_{j,l}(k) = \begin{cases} 2k^{I_0}/(c_u\kappa) & \text{if } k \in \mathfrak{C}_{R_{l+r}}, \\ 0 & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$

for $l \geq l_0$ and $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$. It follows for all $l \geq l_0$ and $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$ that $\Gamma = \bigcup_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l} \operatorname{supp} t_{j,l} = \mathfrak{C}_{R_{l+r}}$. By Ineq. (15) (respectively Proposition 4.2) we have for all $l \geq l_0$, $j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l$ and $x \in \Lambda_l$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} t_{j,l}(k) U(x-k) &= \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^d} w(x-i) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} t_{j,l}(k) u(i-k) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{\kappa} \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+r}} w(x-i) + \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{l+r}} w(x-i) \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} t_{j,l}(k) u(i-k) \\ &= \frac{1}{\kappa} \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+r}} w(x-i) \geq \chi_j(x). \end{split}$$

Here we have used that w(x-i) = 0 for $x \in \Lambda_l$ and $i \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l+r}$. Hence the assumption of Theorem 5.1 is satisfied. Analogous to the proof of Theorem 2.3 there is a constant C_W depending only on the single-site potential U such that

$$\sum_{j \in \tilde{\Lambda}_l} \|t_{j,l}\|_{\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^d)} \le C_{\mathcal{W}}(2l+1)^{2d+\|I_0\|_1}.$$

This completes the proof by using Theorem 5.1.

6 Uniform control of resonances

In order to carry out a proof of localization via multiscale analysis there is a need for an upper bound on the probability that there are resonances of two box Hamiltonians. Since the single-site potential may have unbounded support one needs a so-called uniform version of this estimate as proposed in [KSS98a]. Moreover, the uniform control of resonances can be used to verify the initial lentgh scale estimate in the large disorder regime.

If Assumptions (A) and (B) are satisfied, the Wegner estimate from Theorem 2.3 tells us for all $E \in \mathbb{R}$, l > 0 and $\varepsilon > 0$ that

$$\sup_{\omega_k \in \mathbb{R}, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{R_l}} \mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{R_l}} \left(\operatorname{Tr} P_{[E-\varepsilon, E+\varepsilon]}(h_{\omega}^l) \right) \le C_{\mathrm{W}} \|\rho\|_{\mathrm{Var}} 2\varepsilon (2l+1)^{2d+\|I_0\|_1},$$

where R_l is given in Eq. (8). A similar estimate holds for our alloy-type model in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, cf. Theorem 2.2.

In order to formulate the uniform control of resonances let $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $l_1, l_2 > 0$ be such that the cubes

$$\mathfrak{C}_{1} := \mathfrak{C}_{l_{1}}\left(x\right), \quad \mathfrak{C}_{1}^{+} := \mathfrak{C}_{4l_{1}}\left(x\right), \quad \mathfrak{C}_{2} := \mathfrak{C}_{l_{2}}\left(y\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+} := \mathfrak{C}_{4l_{2}}\left(y\right)$$

satisfy $\mathfrak{C}_1^+ \cap \mathfrak{C}_2^+ = \emptyset$. We define the map $\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}} : \Omega \to \Omega_{\mathfrak{C}}$ by $(\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}}\omega)_j = \omega_j$ for $j \in \mathfrak{C}$. For $\omega \in \Omega$ we set $\omega_i = \Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_i^+}\omega$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, and define the uniform distance by

$$\tilde{d}(\sigma(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{1}}), \sigma(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{2}})) := \inf_{\substack{\omega_{1}^{\perp} \in \Omega_{\mathbb{Z}^{d} \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{1}^{+}} \\ \omega_{2}^{\perp} \in \Omega_{\mathbb{Z}^{d} \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}}} d\Big(\sigma\big(h_{(\omega_{1}, \omega_{1}^{\perp})}^{\mathfrak{C}_{1}}\big), \sigma\big(h_{(\omega_{2}, \omega_{2}^{\perp})}^{\mathfrak{C}_{2}}\big)\Big).$$
(16)

We will use an analogue notation for the continuous operator in L^2 . For $\varepsilon > 0$ we define the event

$$A(\mathfrak{C}_1, \mathfrak{C}_2, \varepsilon) := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : \tilde{d}(\sigma(h_\omega^{\mathfrak{C}_1}), \sigma(h_\omega^{\mathfrak{C}_2})) < \varepsilon \right\}.$$
(17)

In analogy we define for the continuum setting for $\varepsilon > 0$ and $J \subset \mathbb{R}$ the event

$$A_J(\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \varepsilon) := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : \tilde{d}(\sigma_J(H_\omega^{\Lambda_1}), \sigma_J(H_\omega^{\Lambda_2})) < \varepsilon \right\}.$$

Here Λ_1 and Λ_2 are cubes with centers $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and side lengths l_1 and l_2 , with the property that $\Lambda_1^+ = \Lambda_{4l_1}(x)$ and $\Lambda_2^+ = \Lambda_{4l_2}(y)$ are disjoint. The notation $\sigma_J(H_{\omega}^{\Lambda_i})$ is for $J \subset \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\sigma_J(H^{\Lambda_i}_{\omega}) = \sigma(H^{\Lambda_i}_{\omega}) \cap J, \quad i \in \{1, 2\}.$$

For the discrete model we have:

Proposition 6.1. Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied. Then there are constants $C_1 = C_1(u, \rho) > 0$, $C_2 = C_2(u, \rho)$ and $l_0 = l_0(u)$, such that if $l_2 \ge l_0$ we have for all $\varepsilon > 0$ the bound

$$\mathbb{P}\left(A(\mathfrak{C}_{1},\mathfrak{C}_{2},\varepsilon)\right) \leq C_{1}(2\max\{l_{1},l_{2}\}+1)^{3d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}} \left[\varepsilon + C_{2} \mathrm{e}^{-3\min\{l_{1},l_{2}\}\alpha/2}\right].$$

For the proof we need some preparatory estimate.

 $\|$

Lemma 6.2. Let Assumption (A) be satisfied. Then there exists a constant $\hat{C} = \hat{C}(C, \alpha, d)$ such that for all $l, l' \geq 0$ and all $x \in \mathfrak{C}_l$ there holds

$$\sum_{k \parallel \infty > l+l'} |u(x-k)| \le \hat{C} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha l'/2}.$$

Proof. Since $||x - k||_{\infty} > l'$ for all k with $||k||_{\infty} > l + l'$, we have the estimate

$$S := \sum_{\|k\|_{\infty} > l+l'} |u(x-k)| \le \sum_{\|x-k\|_{\infty} > l'} |u(x-k)| = \sum_{\|k\|_{\infty} > l'} |u(k)|.$$

We use the exponential decay condition on u, $||k||_1 \ge ||k||_{\infty}$, and obtain

$$S \leq C \sum_{\|k\|_{\infty} > l'} e^{-\alpha \|k\|_1} \leq C e^{-\alpha l'/2} \sum_{\|k\|_{\infty} > l'} e^{-\alpha \|k\|_{\infty}/2}$$
$$\leq C e^{-\alpha l'/2} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} e^{-\alpha \|k\|_{\infty}/2}.$$

The sum itself assumes a finite value $C_{\alpha,d} > 0$, depending only on α and d, so we have for all l, l' > 0 that $S \leq CC_{\alpha,d} e^{-\alpha l'/2}$.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. Let $i \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\omega, \omega' \in \Omega$ with $\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_i^+} \omega = \Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_i^+} \omega'$. By Lemma 6.2 we have for all $x \in \mathfrak{C}_i$ that

$$|v_{\omega}(x) - v_{\omega'}(x)| \leq \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_i^+} |u(x-k)| |\omega_k - \omega'_k| \leq C_{u,\rho} \mathrm{e}^{-3l_i \alpha/2} =: \delta_i.$$
(18)

Here $C_{u,\rho}$ is a constant depending only on the single-site potential u and the density ρ . From this fact there follows that the eigenvalues of $h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_i}$ move at most by δ_i if the configuration changes from ω to ω' .

It will be convenient to take a special choice of ω' , namely one where all coupling constants outside a finite box are set equal to zero. More precisely, set

$$\begin{split} h^{1}_{\omega} &:= h^{\mathfrak{C}_{1}}_{\hat{\omega}}, \text{ where } \hat{\omega}_{k} = \omega_{k} \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{1}^{+}}(k), \\ h^{2}_{\omega} &:= h^{\mathfrak{C}_{2}}_{\hat{\omega}}, \text{ where } \hat{\omega}_{k} = \omega_{k} \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(k). \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\tilde{d}(\sigma(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{1}}), \sigma(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{2}}))) < \varepsilon,$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad d(\sigma(h_{\omega}^{1}), \sigma(h_{\omega}^{2})) < \varepsilon + \delta_{1} + \delta_{2},$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad \exists E \in \sigma(h_{\omega}^{1}) : d(E, \sigma(h_{\omega}^{2})) < \varepsilon + \delta_{1} + \delta_{2}.$$
(19)

The set of $\omega \in \Omega$ where (19) holds will be denoted by B. Thus

$$\mathbb{P}(A(\mathfrak{C}_1,\mathfrak{C}_2,\varepsilon)) \leq \mathbb{P}(B) = \mathbb{E}\big[\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_2^+}(\mathbf{1}_B)\big].$$

Next we provide a uniform upper bound on the random variable $\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_2^+}(\mathbf{1}_B)$. Using the pointwise estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{1}_{\left\{\omega\in\Omega\colon\exists\,E\in\sigma(h_{\omega}^{1}):d(E,\sigma(h_{\omega}^{2}))<\varepsilon+\delta_{1}+\delta_{2}\right\}^{\left(\omega\right)}} \\ &\leq\sum_{E\in\sigma(h_{\omega}^{1})}\mathbf{1}_{\left\{\omega\in\Omega\colon d(E,\sigma(h_{\omega}^{2}))<\varepsilon+\delta_{1}+\delta_{2}\right\}^{\left(\omega\right)}} \end{aligned}$$

and Chebychev's inequality we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\mathbf{1}_{B}) \leq \sum_{E \in \sigma(h_{\omega}^{1})} \mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}\left(\mathbf{1}_{\left\{\omega \in \Omega : d(E, \sigma(h_{\omega}^{2})) < \varepsilon + \delta_{1} + \delta_{2}\right\}}\right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{E \in \sigma(h_{\omega}^{1})} \mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}\left(\operatorname{Tr} P_{I}(h_{\omega}^{2})\right),$$

where $I = [E - \varepsilon - \delta_1 - \delta_2, E + \varepsilon + \delta_1 + \delta_2]$. Here we used that the set $\sigma(h_{\omega}^1)$ is independent of the random variables $\omega_k, k \in \mathfrak{C}_2^+$. If $\mathfrak{C}_2^+ \supset \mathfrak{C}_{R_{l_2}}$, i.e.,

$$4l_2 \ge R_{l_2} = \max\left\{2l_2 + \frac{2}{\alpha}\ln\frac{2\,3^d\,C}{|c_u|(1 - e^{-\alpha/2})}, \frac{8(d + ||I_0||_1)^2}{\alpha^2}\right\},\$$

we can apply Theorem 2.3 and obtain

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\mathbf{1}_{B}) \leq (2l_{1}+1)^{d} C_{W} \|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}} 2(\varepsilon + \delta_{1} + \delta_{2})(2l_{2}+1)^{2d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}}$$

uniformly in $\omega_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_2^+$. Thus

$$\mathbb{E}\big[\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\mathbf{1}_{B})\big] \leq (2l_{1}+1)^{d} C_{\mathrm{W}} \|\rho\|_{\mathrm{Var}} 2(\varepsilon+\delta_{1}+\delta_{2})(2l_{2}+1)^{2d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}}.$$

An analogue of Proposition 6.1 holds true for the continuous alloy-type model with a single-site potential of generalized step function form.

Proposition 6.3. Assume that U is a generalized step function and that Assumptions (A) and (B) are satisfied. Let further $J \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded interval. Then there are constants $C_3 = C_4(d) > 0$, $C_4 = C_4(U, \rho)$, $C_5 = C_5(U, \rho)$, $l_0^* = l_0^*(U)$ and $l_1^* = l_1^*(U)$, such that if $l_2 \geq l_0^*$ and $l_1, l_2 \geq l_1^*$ we have for all $\varepsilon > 0$ the bound

$$\mathbb{P}\left(A_{J}(\Lambda_{1},\Lambda_{2},\varepsilon)\right) \leq C_{3}(\max\{\sup J, -C_{5}\} + C_{5})^{d/2} \mathrm{e}^{|\sup J|} \times (2\max\{l_{1},l_{2}\} + 1)^{3d + \|I_{0}\|_{1}} [\varepsilon + C_{4}(2\max\{l_{1},l_{2}\} + 1)^{d} \mathrm{e}^{-3\min\{l_{1},l_{2}\}\alpha/2}].$$

Proof. Let $i \in \{1, 2\}$ and $\omega, \omega' \in \Omega$ with $\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_i^+} \omega = \Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_i^+} \omega'$. Then we have for $x \in \Lambda_i$ that

$$\begin{aligned} |V_{\omega}(x) - V_{\omega'}(x)| &\leq \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_i^+} |U(x-k)| |\omega_k - \omega'_k| \\ &\leq C_{\rho} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} |w(x-j)| \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_i^+} |u(j-k)| \end{aligned}$$

with some constant C_{ρ} depending only on the probability density ρ . Recall that $r = \sup\{\|x\|_{\infty} : w(x) \neq 0\}$. Since $x \in \Lambda_i$ we have w(x - j) = 0 for $j \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l_i+r}$. If we assume that $l_i \geq r/3 =: l_1^*(U), i \in \{1, 2\}$, then using Lemma 6.2 with $l = l_i + r$ and $l' = 3l_i - r$ we have

$$|V_{\omega}(x) - V_{\omega'}(x)| \le C_{\rho} \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l_i+r}} |w(x-j)| \hat{C} e^{-\alpha(3l_i-r)/2}.$$

For the moment we assume $w \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then we have

$$|V_{\omega}(x) - V_{\omega'}(x)| \le C_{U,\rho}(2l_i + 1)^d e^{-\alpha 3l_i/2} =: \delta_i$$

with some constant $C_{U,\rho}$ depending on the single-site potential U and the density ρ . From this fact there follows that the eigenvalues of $H_{\omega}^{\Lambda_i}$ move at most by δ_i if

the configuration changes from ω to ω' . For general w as in Definition 2.1 the same fact holds by using Proposition 2.1 in [KM82].

It will be convenient to take a special choice of ω' , namely one where all coupling constants outside a finite box are set equal to zero. More precisely, set

$$\begin{aligned} H^{1}_{\omega} &:= H^{\Lambda_{1}}_{\hat{\omega}}, \text{ where } \hat{\omega}_{k} = \omega_{k} \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{1}^{+}}(k), \\ H^{2}_{\omega} &:= H^{\Lambda_{2}}_{\hat{\omega}}, \text{ where } \hat{\omega}_{k} = \omega_{k} \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(k). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\widetilde{d}(\sigma_J(H^{\Lambda_1}_{\omega}, \sigma_J(H^{\Lambda_2}_{\omega}))) < \varepsilon,$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad d(\sigma_J(H^1_{\omega}), \sigma_J(H^2_{\omega})) < \varepsilon + \delta_1 + \delta_2,$$

$$\Rightarrow \quad \exists E \in \sigma_J(H^1_{\omega}) : d(E, \sigma_J(H^2_{\omega})) < \varepsilon + \delta_1 + \delta_2.$$
(20)

The set of $\omega \in \Omega$ where (20) holds will be denoted by B. Thus

$$\mathbb{P}(A_J(\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \varepsilon)) \le \mathbb{P}(B) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_2^+}(\mathbf{1}_B)\right].$$

Next we provide a uniform upper bound on the random variable $\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_2^+}(\mathbf{1}_B)$. Using the pointwise estimate

$$\mathbf{1}_{\{\omega \in \Omega : \exists E \in \sigma_J(H^1_{\omega}) : d(E, \sigma_J(H^2_{\omega})) < \varepsilon + \delta_1 + \delta_2\}}^{(\omega)} \\ \leq \sum_{E \in \sigma_J(H^1_{\omega})} \mathbf{1}_{\{\omega \in \Omega : d(E, \sigma_J(H^2_{\omega})) < \varepsilon + \delta_1 + \delta_2\}}^{(\omega)}$$

and Chebychev's inequality we obtain

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\mathbf{1}_{B}) \leq \sum_{E \in \sigma_{J}(H_{\omega}^{1})} \mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\mathbf{1}_{\{\omega \in \Omega : d(E, \sigma_{J}(H_{\omega}^{2})) < \varepsilon + \delta_{1} + \delta_{2}\}})$$
$$\leq \sum_{E \in \sigma_{J}(H_{\omega}^{1})} \mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\operatorname{Tr} P_{I}(H_{\omega}^{2})),$$

where $I = [E - \varepsilon - \delta_1 - \delta_2, E + \varepsilon + \delta_1 + \delta_2]$. Here we used that the set $\sigma_J(H^1_{\omega})$ is independent of the random variables $\omega_k, k \in \mathfrak{C}_2^+$. If $\mathfrak{C}_2^+ \supset \mathfrak{C}_{R_{l_2+r}}$, i.e. $4l_2 \ge R_{l_2+r}$ or $l_2 \ge l_0^*(U)$ with an appropriate chosen $l_0^*(U)$, we can apply Theorem 2.2 and obtain

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathfrak{C}_{2}^{+}}(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{B}}) \leq \sum_{E \in \sigma_{J}(H_{\omega}^{1})} e^{|\sup J|} C_{\mathrm{W}} \|\rho\|_{\mathrm{Var}} 2(\varepsilon + \delta_{1} + \delta_{2})(2l_{2} + 1)^{2d + \|I_{0}\|_{1}}$$

uniformly in ω_k , $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_2^+$. Recall that the number of eigenvalues $|\sigma_J(H^1_\omega)|$ satisfies the bound $|\sigma_J(H^1_\omega)| \leq C|\Lambda|$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$. Here *C* depends on the space dimension *d*, sup *J*, the single-site potential *U* and the measure μ . This bound can be obtained by using the perturbation bound (1), see e.g. Proposition 2.1 of [KM82], and the well known Weyl bound for the number of eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian less then λ , see e.g. [RS80]. Since the right hand side is now independent of ω we obtain the statement of the proposition.

7 Localization via multiscale analysis (discrete model)

7.1 Basic notation

For $\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ we denote by $\partial^{\mathbf{i}}\mathfrak{C} = \{k \in \mathfrak{C} : \#\{j \in \mathfrak{C} : \|k-j\|_1 = 1\} < 2d\}$ the interior boundary of \mathfrak{C} and by $\partial^{\mathbf{o}}\mathfrak{C} = \partial^{\mathbf{i}}\mathfrak{C}^c$ the exterior boundary of \mathfrak{C} . Here $\mathfrak{C}^c = \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}$ denotes the complement of \mathfrak{C} . Moreover, we define the bond-boundary $\partial^{\mathbf{b}}\mathfrak{C}$ of \mathfrak{C} as

$$\partial^{\mathbf{b}} \mathfrak{C} = \left\{ (u, u') \in \mathbb{Z}^d \times \mathbb{Z}^d : u \in \mathfrak{C}, \ u' \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}, \ \text{and} \ \|u - u'\|_1 = 1 \right\}.$$

For $\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$, $u, w \in \mathfrak{C}$ and $E \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(h^{\mathfrak{C}}_{\omega})$ we denote the Green's function by

$$G^{\mathfrak{C}}_{\omega}(E; u, w) := \langle \delta_u, (h^{\mathfrak{C}}_{\omega} - E)^{-1} \delta_w \rangle.$$

For the following definitions let $u \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and l > 0.

Definition 7.1. Let m > 0 and $E \in \mathbb{R}$. A cube $\mathfrak{C}_l(u)$ is called (m, E)-regular (for fixed $\omega \in \Omega$), if $E \notin \sigma(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l(u)})$ and

$$\sup_{w\in\partial^{\mathbf{i}}\mathfrak{C}_{l}(u)}|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}(u)}(E;u,w)|\leq \mathrm{e}^{-ml}.$$

Otherwise the cube $\mathfrak{C}_l(u)$ is called (m, E)-singular.

Definition 7.2. Let $G_l(u, m, E) = \{ \omega \in \Omega \mid \mathfrak{C}_l(u) \text{ is } (m, E) \text{-regular} \}$. A cube $\mathfrak{C}_l(u)$ is called *uniformly* (m, E)-*regular* (for fixed $\omega \in \Omega$), if $\omega' \in G_l(u, m, E)$ for all ω' with $\prod_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(u)} \omega' = \prod_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(u)} \omega$.

Definition 7.3. Let $\omega \in \Omega$, $\zeta > 0$ and $E \in \mathbb{R}$. We call a cube $\mathfrak{C}_l(u)$ non-resonant for ω at energy E, E-NR for short, if

$$d\Big(E,\sigma\big(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}(u)}\big)\Big) \geq \frac{1}{2}l^{-\zeta},$$

or equivalently

$$\|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l(u)}(E)\| \le 2l^{\zeta}.$$

It is convenient to introduce in accordance with (16) also the following uniform distance

$$\tilde{d}\big(E, \sigma(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}(u)})\big) := \inf_{\omega_{1}^{\perp} \in \, \Omega_{\mathbb{Z}^{d} \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{4l}(u)}} d\Big(E, \sigma\big(h_{(\omega_{1}, \omega_{1}^{\perp})}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}(u)}\big)\Big),$$

where $\omega_1 = \prod_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(u)} \omega$.

Definition 7.4. Let $\omega \in \Omega$, $\zeta > 0$ and $E \in \mathbb{R}$. We call a cube $\mathfrak{C}_l(u)$ uniformly non-resonant for $\omega \in \Omega$ at energy E, uniformly E-NR for short, if

$$\tilde{d}\left(E,\sigma\left(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}(u)}\right)\right) \geq \frac{1}{2}l^{-\zeta}.$$

7.2 Induction step of the multiscale analysis

In this section we will carry out the induction step of the multiscale analysis. We rely on the ideas and presentation from [vDK89] and [KSS98a]. For an interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}, m > 0, l \in \mathbb{N}$ and $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ we define the event

$$B_l(z_1, z_2, m, I) := \{ \omega \in \Omega : \\ \exists E \in I : \mathfrak{C}_l(z_1) \text{ and } \mathfrak{C}_l(z_2) \text{ are not uniformly } (m, E) \text{-regular} \}.$$

Note that the event $B_l(z_1, z_2, m, I)$ is independent of the coordinates $\omega_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus (\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_1) \cup \mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_2))$. Therefore, $B_l(z_1, z_2, m, I)$ is a $\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_1) \cup \mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_2)$ cylinder set. With this in mind, we obtain the independence of the events

$$B_l(z_1, z_2, m, I)$$
 and $B_l(z_3, z_4, m, I)$ (21)

provided $(\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_1) \cup \mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_2)) \cap (\mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_3) \cup \mathfrak{C}_{4l}(z_4)) = \emptyset$. Let now additionally $\xi > 0$ be given. We say that the estimate $G(I, l, m, \xi)$ is satisfied, if for all $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||z_1 - z_2||_{\infty} > 8l$ there holds

$$\mathbb{P}(B_l(z_1, z_2, m, I)^c) \ge 1 - l^{-2\xi}.$$

Note that, if $G(I, l, m, \xi)$ is satisfied, then $\mathbb{P}(B_l(x, y, m, I)) \leq l^{-2\xi}$ for all $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||x - y||_{\infty} > 8l$.

Theorem 7.5. Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied, fix $\xi > 2d$, $\kappa \in (1, 2\xi/(\xi + 2d) \text{ and } \beta \in (2 - \kappa, 1)$. Then there exists $l^* = l^*(d, \xi, \kappa, \beta, u, \rho) \ge 1$ such that the following implication holds:

If for $l \ge l^*$ and $m > l^{\beta-1}$ the estimate $G(I, l, m, \xi)$ is satisfied, then also $G(I, L, m_L, \xi)$ is true where $L = l^{\kappa}$ and $m_L > 0$ satisfies

$$m > m_L > m \left(1 - L^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa} \right) - L^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa} > L^{\beta-1}.$$
 (22)

Proof. We define for $z \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ the event

$$\begin{split} \Omega_{\mathcal{G}}(z) &:= \{ \omega \in \Omega : \ \forall E \in I \text{ there are no } 4 \text{ cubes } \mathfrak{C}_l(z_1), \dots, \mathfrak{C}_l(z_4) \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(z) \\ & \text{ with } d(z_i, z_j) > 8l \text{ for } i \neq j \text{ and} \\ \mathfrak{C}_l(z_i) \text{ is not uniformly } (m, E)\text{-regular, for } i = 1, \dots, 4 \}. \end{split}$$

For $\omega \notin \Omega_{G}(z)$ there is some $E \in I$ for which 4 bad (= not uniformly (m, E)regular) cubes $\mathfrak{C}_{l}(z_{i})$ with distance between their centers bigger than 8l exist. With $S := \{(z_{1}, \ldots, z_{4}) \in \mathfrak{C}_{L-|l|}^{4}(z) : d(z_{i}, z_{j}) > 8l, \text{ for } i \neq j\} \text{ we can write}$

$$\Omega^{\mathrm{c}}_{\mathrm{G}}(z) \subset \bigcup_{(z_1,\dots,z_4)\in S} \big(B_l(z_1,z_2,m,I) \cap B_l(z_3,z_4,m,I) \big).$$

Since $B_l(z_1, z_2, m, I)$ and $B_l(z_3, z_4, m, I)$ are independent by (21), we get with $\#S \leq (2L)^{4d}$

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\rm G}^{\rm c}(z)) \le \frac{(2L)^{4d}}{l^{4\xi}} = 2^{4d} L^{4(d-\frac{\xi}{\kappa})}.$$

Since $4(d - \frac{\xi}{\kappa}) < -2\xi$ we can find $l_1^* = l_1^*(d, \xi, \kappa)$ such that for $l \ge l_1^*$

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\mathrm{G}}^{\mathrm{c}}(z)) \leq \frac{1}{3}L^{-2\xi}$$

Note that the event $\Omega_{G}(z)$ merely means that there are at most 3 bad cubes (with sidelength $2\lfloor l \rfloor$) with sufficiently separated midpoints but, indeed, there might be many more bad cubes with midpoints in their neighborhoods. For a reason we will see later, we want to cover all bad cubes by bigger cubes, so called "containers", such that all sites outside these containers (but their centers still in the big cube $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(z)$) are midpoints of uniformly (m, E)-regular cubes of sidelength $2\lfloor l \rfloor$. We use \mathfrak{C}_{t_i} as notation for the *i*th container with sidelength $2\lfloor l_i \rfloor$. The later application requires that the containers do not *touch*. We say that two cubes $\mathfrak{C}, \mathfrak{C}'$ touch if they intersect or, in the case that they are disjoint, $\exists w \in \mathfrak{C}, w' \in \mathfrak{C}'$ with $||w - w'||_1 = 1$.

Note that the event $\Omega_{G}(z)$ ensures that we can find $z_1, z_2, z_3 \in \mathfrak{C}_L(z)$ with $d(z_i, z_j) > 8l$ and

$$\left\{ u \in \mathfrak{C}_{L-\lfloor l \rfloor}(z) \colon \mathfrak{C}_{l}(u) \text{ is bad} \right\} \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{3} \mathfrak{C}_{8l}(z_{i}).$$

If none of the above 8*l*-cubes touch, the $\mathfrak{C}_{8l}(z_i)$ are already our containers. If two of the 8*l*-cubes touch, we replace them by one $\mathfrak{C}_{16l+1}(w)$ cube containing both of them. If $\mathfrak{C}_{16l+1}(w)$ does not touch the remaining 8*l*-cube, we choose these two cubes as our containers. Otherwise we choose only one container $\mathfrak{C}_{24l+2}(u)$ containing all three original 8*l*-cubes. By the construction we obtain $N \leq 3$ containers \mathfrak{Ct}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, N$ which do not touch and whose sidelengths $2\lfloor l_i \rfloor$, with $l_i \in \mathfrak{L} := \{8l, 16l+1, 24l+2\}$, satisfy the relation

$$48l + 3 \le \sum_{i=1}^{N} (2l_i + 1) \le 48l + 5.$$
⁽²³⁾

Now we turn to the control of probabilities of resonances using the Wegner estimate. For fixed $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||x - y||_{\infty} > 8L$ and $\zeta = \kappa(5d + ||I_0||_1 + 2\xi) + 1$, we define

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{W}}(x,y) := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : \exists \mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x') \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(x), \mathfrak{C}_{l_y}(y') \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(y) \text{ with} \\ l_x, l_y \in \mathfrak{L} \cup \{L\} \text{ and } \tilde{d} \big(\sigma(h_\omega^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x')}), \sigma(h_\omega^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_y}(y')}) \big) < \min\{l_x, l_y\}^{-\zeta} \right\}.$$
(24)

We want to get an upper bound for the probability of $\Omega_{W}(x, y)$. By subadditivity we have

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\mathcal{W}}(x,y)) \leq \sum_{l_x,l_y,x',y'} \mathbb{P}\left(A(\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x'),\mathfrak{C}_{l_y}(y'),\min\{l_x,l_y\}^{-\zeta})\right),$$

where the sum runs over l_x, l_y, x' and y' satisfying $\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x') \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(x), \mathfrak{C}_{l_y}(y') \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(y)$ with $l_x, l_y \in \mathfrak{L} \cup \{L\}$. Recall that the event $A(\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x'), \mathfrak{C}_{l_y}(y'), \varepsilon)$ is defined in

Eq. (17). Since $\mathfrak{C}_{4l_x}(x') \cap \mathfrak{C}_{4l_y}(y') = \emptyset$, Proposition 6.1 provides an upper bound on the probability of $A(\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x'), \mathfrak{C}_{l_y}(y'), \min\{l_x, l_y\}^{-\zeta})$. This gives

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\mathcal{W}}(x,y)) \\ \leq \sum_{l_x,l_y,x',y'} C_1(2\max\{l_x,l_y\}+1)^{3d+\|I_0\|_1} \left[\min\{l_x,l_y\}^{-\zeta} + C_2 e^{-3\min\{l_x,l_y\}\alpha/2}\right].$$

There is an $l_2^* = l_2^*(\kappa)$ such that $24l + 2 \leq L$ for $l \geq l_2^*$. Recall that $l = L^{1/\kappa}$. For $l \geq l_2^*$ and $l_x, l_y \in \mathfrak{L} \cup \{L\}$ we have $8l \leq l_x, l_y \leq L$ as well as

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\mathrm{W}}(x,y)) \leq 16(2L+1)^{2d}C_{1}(2L+1)^{3d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}} \left[l^{-\zeta} + C_{2}\mathrm{e}^{-12l\alpha} \right] \\
\leq 16C_{1}(2L+1)^{5d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}} \left[L^{-\zeta/\kappa} + C_{2}\mathrm{e}^{-12l\alpha} \right] \\
\leq 16C_{1}(2L+1)^{5d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}-\zeta/\kappa} + 16C_{1}C_{2}(2L+1)^{5d+\|I_{0}\|_{1}}\mathrm{e}^{-12l\alpha}.$$
(25)

Since $\zeta = \kappa(5d + ||I_0||_1 + 2\xi) + 1$ we find $l_3^* = l_3^*(\xi, \kappa, d, u, \rho)$, such that for $l \ge l_3^*$ we have

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\mathrm{W}}(u_1, u_2)) \le \frac{1}{3}L^{-2\xi}$$

For all $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||x - y||_{\infty} > 8L$ we get due to subadditivity of the measure

 $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_G^{\rm c}(x) \cup \Omega_G^{\rm c}(y) \cup \Omega_{\rm W}(x,y)) \le L^{-2\xi}$

and thus

$$\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\mathcal{G}}(x) \cap \Omega_{\mathcal{G}}(y) \cap \Omega_{\mathcal{W}}^{c}(x,y)) \ge 1 - L^{-2\xi}.$$

The probability of this event becomes bigger with growing L.

If $\omega \in \Omega^{c}_{W}(x, y)$ and $E \in \mathbb{R}$, we show that for one of the cubes $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)$ or $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(y)$, denoted by $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(z)$, all contained cubes $\mathfrak{C}_{l_{z}}(z') \subset \mathfrak{C}_{L}(z)$ with $l_{z} \in \mathfrak{L} \cup \{L\}$ are uniformly *E*-NR. If all such cubes both in $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)$ and $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(y)$ are uniformly *E*-NR there is nothing to prove. Otherwise choose $\tilde{l} \in \mathfrak{L} \cup \{L\}$ maximal such that there exists $\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}(\tilde{z})$ in $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)$ or $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(y)$ with

$$\tilde{d}\Big(E,\sigma\big(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}(\tilde{z})}\big)\Big) < \frac{1}{2}\tilde{l}^{-\zeta}.$$

Without loss of generality let $\tilde{z} \in \mathfrak{C}_L(y)$. By definition all cubes $\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x') \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ with $l_x > \tilde{l}$ are uniformly *E*-NR. Now choose $\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x') \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ with $l_x \leq \tilde{l}$. Since $\omega \in \Omega^c_W(x, y)$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{d}\Big(E, \sigma\big(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x')}\big)\Big) &\geq \tilde{d}\Big(\sigma\big(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}(\tilde{z})}\big), \sigma\big(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x')}\big)\Big) - \tilde{d}\Big(E, \sigma\big(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}(\tilde{z})}\big)\Big)\Big) \\ &\geq \min\{l_x, \tilde{l}\}^{-\zeta} - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{l}^{-\zeta} \geq \frac{1}{2}l_x^{-\zeta}, \end{split}$$

i.e. $\mathfrak{C}_{l_x}(x')$ is uniformly *E*-NR.

For $||x - y||_{\infty} > 8L$ and $\omega \in \Omega_{G}(x) \cap \Omega_{G}(y) \cap \Omega_{W}^{c}(x, y)$, the two *L*-cubes $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)$ and $\mathfrak{C}_{L}(y)$ have both no four bad *l*-cubes with distance among them bigger than 8land for at least one of the *L*-cubes all bad cubes are uniformly E - NR. From now on we fix $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||x - y||_{\infty} > 8L$ and $\omega \in \Omega_{\mathcal{G}}(x) \cap \Omega_{\mathcal{G}}(y) \cap \Omega_{\mathcal{W}}^c(x, y)$. Without loss of generality we assume that the *L*-cube $\mathfrak{C}_L(z), z \in \{x, y\}$ with the uniformly $\mathcal{E} - \mathcal{NR}$ cubes is equal to $\mathfrak{C}_L(x)$. In the next step we show that $\mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ is itself a uniformly (m_L, E) -regular cube, with m_L satisfying (22) in the theorem. To do so, we need a sufficiently good estimate on $|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}(E; x, v)|$ for all $v \in \partial^i \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$.

Let us first recall the geometric resolvent identity. For all $u \in \mathfrak{C} \subset \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, $v \in \mathfrak{C}_L(x) \setminus \mathfrak{C}$, the following identity holds:

$$G^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}_{\omega}(E;u,v) = \sum_{(w,w')\in\partial^{\mathbf{b}}\mathfrak{C}} G^{\mathfrak{C}}_{\omega}(E;u,w) G^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}_{\omega}(E;w',v).$$

Here we use the convention that $G^{\Gamma}_{\omega}(E; x, y) = 0$ if $x \notin \Gamma \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ or $y \notin \Gamma$. With $w_0 \in (\partial^o \mathfrak{C}) \cap \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ such that

$$|G^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}_{\omega}(E;w_0,v)| = \sup_{w' \in (\partial^{\circ}\mathfrak{C}) \cap \mathfrak{C}_L(x)} |G^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}_{\omega}(E;w',v)|,$$

we obtain

$$|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E;u,v)| \leq \left[\sum_{(w,w')\in\partial^{\mathbf{b}}\mathfrak{C}} |G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}}(E;u,w)|\right] |G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E;w_{0},v)|.$$
(26)

Now we set $u_0 := x$ and fix $v \in \partial^i \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$. Using (26) we recursively introduce a sequence $u_1, u_2, \dots \in \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ by distinguishing two cases at each step. Given $u_k \in \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, we construct u_{k+1} according to the following two cases:

(a) $\mathfrak{C}_l(u_k)$ is a uniformly (m, E)-regular cube and $v \notin \mathfrak{C}_l(u_k)$. Using (26) with $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{C}_l(u_k) \cap \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, and setting $u_{k+1} := w_0$, we obtain

$$|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E; u_{k}, v)| \leq 2^{d} d(l+1)^{d-1} \mathrm{e}^{-ml} |G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E; u_{k+1}, v)|.$$

Note that $||u_{k+1} - u_k||_{\infty} \leq l+1$. In this case we set

$$Z(k) := \exp[-ml + \ln(2^d d(l+1)^{d-1})].$$

There is an $l_4^* = l_4^*(d, \beta)$ such that Z(k) < 1 for all $l \ge l_4^*$.

(b) $\mathfrak{C}_l(u_k)$ is not uniformly (m, E)-regular. This means that $u_k \in \mathfrak{Ct}_i$ for some i, and we assume that $v \notin \mathfrak{Ct}_i$. Then, using (26) with $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{Ct}_i \cap \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, we obtain

$$|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E;u_{k},v)| \leq 2^{d+1}d(l_{i}+1)^{d-1}l_{i}^{\zeta}|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E;w_{0},v)|,$$

with $\mathfrak{C}_l(w_0)$ a uniformly (m, E)-regular cube. If we assume further that $v \notin \mathfrak{C}_l(w_0)$, we can apply (26) again with $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{C}_l(w_0) \cap \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, and obtain finally

$$|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}(E;u_k,v)| \le Z(k)|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}(E;u_{k+1},v)|,$$

with

$$Z(k) := 2^{2d+1} d^2 [(l_i+1)(l+1)]^{d-1} l_i^{\zeta} e^{-ml}.$$

Note that here $||u_{k+1} - u_k||_{\infty} \le 2l_i + l + 3$. A straightforward calculation shows that Z(k) < 1 is satisfied if

$$m > \frac{\ln C(\zeta, d)}{l} + (2d - 2 + \zeta)\frac{\ln l}{l},$$
 (27)

with a constant $C(\zeta, d) > 0$ only depending on ζ and d. The assumption $m > l^{\beta-1}$ of the theorem guarantees (27) for $l \ge l_5^*$ with a suitably chosen $l_5^* = l_5^*(d, \beta, \zeta)$.

If none of the above two cases applies for a given u_k , we cannot construct u_{k+1} . We assume now that it is possible to perform n steps of the recursion with associated sites $u_0, u_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$. Applying the non-resonance of $\mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, we obtain

$$|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E;x,v)| \leq \left(\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} Z(k)\right) |G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{L}(x)}(E;u_{n},v)| \leq \left(\prod_{k=0}^{n-1} Z(k)\right) 2L^{\zeta}.$$
 (28)

If it is possible to perform arbitrarily many steps of the iteration without leaving $\mathfrak{C}_L(x)$, it follows from (28) for $L \ge l_4^*$, l_5^* that $|G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}(E;x,v)| = 0$. Otherwise, the iteration terminates after finitely many steps, i.e., for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ the site $u_k \in \mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ is so close to the boundary of $\mathfrak{C}_L(x)$ such that the assumption of neither (a) nor (b) are satisfied.

In this latter case, we can give a lower bound on the number n_1 of case (a) steps performed before the recursion ends. Using the estimates for $||u_{k+1} - u_k||_{\infty}$ and Eq. (23), we obtain

$$n_1 \ge \frac{L - l - \sum_{i=1}^{N} (2l_i + l + 3)}{l+1} \ge \frac{L - 63l}{l+1}$$

Using (28) and disregarding the case (b) steps we have

$$\begin{aligned} |G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_L(x)}(E;x,v)| &\leq \exp\left[\left(\frac{L-63l}{l+1}\right)\left(-ml+\ln(2^dd(l+1)^{d-1})\right)+\ln(2L^{\zeta})\right] \\ &\leq \exp\left[-mL+m\frac{L}{l}+63ml+\frac{L}{l}\ln(2^dd(l+1)^d)+\ln(2L^{\zeta})\right] \\ &\leq \exp\left[-m_LL\right], \end{aligned}$$

with

$$m_L := m \left(1 - 2^{\frac{1}{\kappa}} L^{-\frac{1}{\kappa}} - 63L^{\frac{1}{\kappa}-1} \right) - 2^{\frac{1}{\kappa}} L^{-\frac{1}{\kappa}} \ln(4^d dL^{\frac{d}{\kappa}}) - \frac{\ln(2L^{\zeta})}{L}$$

where we used $l^{\kappa} = L$.

Now we choose $\gamma \in ((1 - \beta)/\kappa, 1 - 1/\kappa)$. This is possible because of $2 - \kappa < \beta$. Since $1 - 1/\kappa < 1/\kappa$, we have

$$m_L \ge m(1 - L^{-\gamma}) - L^{-\gamma},$$

for all $L^{\frac{1}{\kappa}} \geq l \geq l_6^*$ with appropriate $l_6^* = l_6^*(d, \kappa, \zeta, \gamma)$. Using $m \geq l^{\beta-1}$ we conclude

 $m_L \ge L^{-\frac{1-\beta}{\kappa}} - L^{-\gamma - \frac{1-\beta}{\kappa}} - L^{-\gamma}.$

Since $\beta > 1 - \gamma \kappa$ we can find $l_7^* = l_7^*(\beta, \gamma, \kappa)$ such that for $L^{1/\kappa} \ge l \ge l_7^*$ we have

$$m_L > L^{\beta - 1}$$

The theorem follows with $l^* := \max(l_1^*, \ldots, l_7^*)$.

7.3 Localization; proof of Theorem 2.6

In Section 7.2 we carried out the induction step of the multiscale analysis, i.e. that if $G(I, l_1, m_1, \xi)$ holds for some $l_1 > 0$, then $G(I, l_2, m_2, \xi)$ holds on some larger scale $l_2 > l_1$. Once an induction anchor is given, one obtains the estimate $G(I, l_k, m_k, \xi)$ for an increasing sequence of length scales l_k . It is crucial for concluding localization that the sequence m_k is bounded from below by some positive m. The induction anchor is provided by the so-called initial scale estimate formulated in the following assumption.

Before we define the initial scale estimate let us define a new length scale $\bar{l} = \bar{l}(\beta, \kappa, q, m_0) \in \mathbb{N}$, depending on $\beta, q \in (0, 1), \kappa \in (1, 2)$ and $m_0 > 0$, namely

$$\bar{l} = \bar{l}(\beta, \kappa, q, m_0) = \left(\frac{(1-q)m_0}{(1-q)m_0 + m_0 + 1}\right)^{-\kappa/(1-\beta)}.$$
(29)

Definition 7.6. Let $I \subset \mathbb{R}$. We say that the *initial scale estimate* holds in $I \subset \mathbb{R}$, if

$$G(I, l_0, m_0, \xi)$$

is satisfied for some

- (i) $\xi > 2d, \kappa \in (1, 2\xi/(\xi + 2d)), \beta \in (2 \kappa, 1)$, and
- (ii) $q \in (0,1), m_0 > 0$ and $l_0 > 1$ satisfying $l_0 \ge \max\{l^*, \bar{l}\}$ and $m_0 > l_0^{\beta-1}$.

Here $l^* = l^*(d, \xi, \kappa, \beta, u, \rho)$ is given by Theorem 7.5 and $\bar{l} = \bar{l}(\beta, \kappa, q, m_0)$ is as in Eq. (29).

Note that \overline{l} depends on m_0 . Hence, if one has verified $G(I, l_0, m_0, \xi)$ for some $l_0 \geq l^*$ and $m_0 > l_0^{\beta-1}$ one still has to check whether $l_0 \geq \overline{l}$. However, if one has verified $G(I, l_0, m_0, \xi)$ for some $m_0 > 0$ and all $l_0 > 1$, then one just has to choose l_0 sufficiently large to verify the initial scale estimate.

Theorem 7.7. Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied, $I \subset \mathbb{R}$, and assume that the initial scale estimate holds in I. Set $m_{\infty} = qm_0$. Then

$$G(I, l_k, m_\infty, \xi)$$

holds for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Here the sequence $l_k, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, is defined by

$$l_{k+1} = l_k^{\kappa}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

and l_0 , m_0 , q, κ and ξ are given through the initial scale estimate.

Proof. By assumption of our theorem, the hypothesis of Theorem 7.5 is satisfied with $l = l_0$ and $m = m_0$. By an inductive application of Theorem 7.5 we obtain the estimate $G(I, l_k, m_k, \xi)$ with a decreasing sequence $m_k, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, satisfying

$$m_{k+1} \ge m_k \left(1 - l_{k+1}^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa}\right) - l_{k+1}^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa}.$$

Our theorem now follows if

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k - m_{k+1} \le m_0 - m_{\infty} = (1-q)m_0.$$
(30)

Indeed, we can estimate

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k - m_{k+1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k l_{k+1}^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa} + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} l_{k+1}^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa} \le (m_0+1) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} l_{k+1}^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa}.$$

Since this is a geometric series we obtain

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} m_k - m_{k+1} \le (m_0 + 1) \frac{l_0^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa}}{1 - l_0^{-(1-\beta)/\kappa}}$$

By assumption we have $l_0 \geq \overline{l}$, and by definition of \overline{l} we obtain Ineq. (30) and hence the statement of the theorem.

Next we cite [vDK89, Theorem 2.3]. More precisely, we will state a slight generalization, since [vDK89, Theorem 2.3] was stated for the case $u = \delta_0$ only. In particular, the proof applies directly to the case of general single-site potentials u and the measure μ . Even more, this result holds true for arbitrary potentials, as long as the resulting family is a family of self-adjoint operators. To be more precise, consider the family of self-adjoint operators

$$A_{\omega}: \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d) \to \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d), \quad \omega \in \Omega,$$

where the index ω is an element of some probability space $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$. We assume that the map $\omega \mapsto \langle \phi, (A_{\omega} - z)^{-1}\psi \rangle$ is measurable for all $\psi, \phi \in \ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ and all $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$. As supplied before we use similar notation for the restricted operators $A_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}} : \ell^2(\mathfrak{C}) \to \ell^2(\mathfrak{C})$ and, with some abuse of notation, the symbol $G_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}}(E, u, w) = \langle \delta_u(A_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}} - E)^{-1}\delta_w \rangle$ for the corresponding Green function. Moreover, the definition of (m, E)-regular and singular from Definition 7.1 holds for $A_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}}$ in an analogue way.

Theorem 7.8. Consider the family of operators $(A_{\omega})_{\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}}$, let $a \in \mathbb{N}$, $c \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ be an interval, $\xi > d$, $l_0 > 1$, $\kappa \in (1, 2\xi/d)$ and m > 0. Let moreover l_k , $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, be a sequence of integers such that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$l_{k+1} = l_k^{\kappa}$$

Suppose that for any $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and any $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||x - y||_{\infty} \ge al_k + c$

$$\mathbb{P}(\{\omega \in \Omega \colon \exists E \in I \colon \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x) \text{ and } \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(y) \text{ is } (m, E) \text{-singular}\}) \leq l_k^{-2\xi}.$$

Then, for almost all $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$, $\sigma_c(A_\omega) \cap I = \emptyset$ and the eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalues of A_ω in I decay exponentially.

Proof. Let b be a positive integer to be chosen later on. For $x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ let

$$A_{k+1}(x_0) = \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1}+c)}(x_0) \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{al_k+c}(x_0).$$

Define the event

$$E_k(x_0) = \{ \omega \in \tilde{\Omega} : \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0) \text{ and } \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x) \text{ are } (m, E) \text{-singular}$$
for some $E \in I$ and some $x \in A_{k+1}(x_0) \}.$

By construction we have for each $x \in A_{k+1}(x_0)$ that $||x - x_0||_{\infty} > al_k + c$. Hence, we obtain by our hypothesis

$$\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(E_k(x_0)) \leq \sum_{x \in A_{k+1}(x_0)} l_k^{-2\xi} \leq \frac{(2(bal_{k+1} + bc) + 1)^d}{l_k^{2\xi}} \leq \frac{(2ba + 2bcl_0^{-1} + l_0^{-1})^d}{l_k^{2\xi - \kappa d}}$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Since $\kappa d < 2\xi$ we have $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(E_k(x_0)) < \infty$. It follows from Borel Cantelli Lemma that for each $x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ we have $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}\{E_k(x_0) \text{ occurs infinitely often}\} = 0$. Since a countable union of sets of measure zero has measure zero, we obtain

 $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(\{\omega \in \tilde{\Omega} \colon \exists x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d \colon E_k(x_0) \text{ occurs for infinitely many } k \in \mathbb{N}\}) = 0.$

If we let

 $\tilde{\Omega}_0 = \{ \omega \in \tilde{\Omega} : \text{ for all } x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d, E_k(x_0) \text{ occurs only finitely many times} \},\$

we have $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(\tilde{\Omega}_0) = 1$. In particular, for each $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}_0$ and $x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ there is $k_1 = k_1(\omega, x_0) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that if $k \geq k_1$ then $E_k(x_0)$ does not occur.

Now let $\omega \in \Omega_0$, $E \in I$ be a generalized eigenvalue of A_ω with the corresponding non-zero polynomially bounded generalized eigenfunction ψ , i.e. $A_\omega \psi = E\psi$, $|\psi(x)| \leq C(1+||x||)^t$ for some positive constant C and positive integer t. We choose $x_0 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ such that $\psi(x_0) \neq 0$. If $\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0)$ is (m, E)-regular, then

$$E \not\in \sigma \left(A_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0)} \right)$$

and therefore we can recover ψ from its boundary values, i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(x_0)| &= \left| \sum_{i \in \partial^{\mathbf{i}} \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0)} G_{\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0)}(E; x_0, i) \sum_{\substack{y \in (\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0))^{\mathbf{c}_1} \\ \|i - y\|_1 = 1}} \psi(y)} | \end{aligned} \right. \tag{31}$$
$$\leq \sum_{i \in \partial^{\mathbf{i}} \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0)} \mathrm{e}^{-ml_k} 2dC(2 + l_k + \|x_0\|)^t.$$

Since $\psi(x_0) \neq 0$, it follows that there exists $k_2 = k_2(\omega, E, x_0) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x_0)$ is (m, E)-singular for all $k \geq k_2$. Let $k_3 = k_3(\omega, E, x_0) = \max\{k_1, k_2\}$. If $k \geq k_3$ we conclude that $\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(x)$ is (m, E)-regular for all $x \in A_{k+1}(x_0)$.

Let $\rho \in (0,1)$ be given. We pick $b > (1+\rho)/(1-\rho)$ and define

$$A'_{k+1}(x_0) = \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1}+c)/(1+\rho)}(x_0) \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{(al_k+c)/(1-\rho)}(x_0).$$

Then we have

- (i) $A'_{k+1}(x_0) \subset A_{k+1}(x_0)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$,
- (ii) if $x \in A'_{k+1}(x_0)$ then $dist(x, \partial^{\circ} A_{k+1}(x_0)) \ge \rho ||x x_0||_{\infty}$, and
- (iii) if $x \notin \mathfrak{C}_{(al_0+c)/(\rho-1)}(x_0)$ then $x \in A'_{k+1}$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Here dist $(m, A) = \inf_{k \in A} ||m - k||_{\infty}$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $A \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$. Claim (i) and (iii) are obvious. To see (ii) we estimate the distance of $x \in A'_{k+1}(x_0)$ to both boundaries of the annulus $A_{k+1}(x_0)$. For the "inner" boundary we use $||x - x_0||_{\infty} \leq \lfloor al_k + c \rfloor + \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^i \mathfrak{C}_{al_k+c}(x_0))$ and $||x - x_0||_{\infty} \geq \lfloor al_k + c \rfloor/(1 - \rho)$ to conclude

$$dist(x, \partial^{\mathbf{t}} \mathfrak{C}_{al_{k}+c}(x_{0})) \ge ||x - x_{0}||_{\infty} - (1 - \rho) ||x - x_{0}||_{\infty}.$$

For the "outer" boundary we use the triangle inequality

$$\operatorname{dist}(x_0, \partial^{\mathsf{o}} \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1}+c)}(x_0)) \le \|x - x_0\|_{\infty} + \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^{\mathsf{o}} \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1}+c)}(x_0)),$$

 $||x - x_0||_{\infty} \le b(al_{k+1} + c)/(1 + \rho)$ and $dist(x_0, \partial^o \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1} + c)}(x_0)) = b(al_{k+1} + c)$ to conclude

$$\operatorname{dist}(x, \partial^{\circ} \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1}+c)}(x_0)) \geq \operatorname{dist}(x_0, \partial^{\circ} \mathfrak{C}_{b(al_{k+1}+c)}(x_0)) - \|x - x_0\|_{\infty}$$
$$\geq \rho \|x - x_0\|_{\infty}.$$

Hence the claim (ii) follows.

Now let $k \ge k_3$, so that $\mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(y)$ is (m, E)-regular for any $y \in A_{k+1}(x_0)$. Let $x \in A'_{k+1}(x_0) \subset A_{k+1}(x_0)$. Again by Eq. (31),

$$|\psi(x)| \le (2l_k + 1)^d \mathrm{e}^{-ml_k} 2d|\psi(u_1)|$$

for some $u_1 \in \partial^{\circ} \mathfrak{C}_{l_k+1}(x)$. If $u_1 \in A_{k+1}(x_0)$ we obtain

$$|\psi(x)| \le \left[(2l_k + 1)^d \mathrm{e}^{-ml_k} 2d \right]^2 |\psi(u_2)|$$

for some $u_2 \in \partial^{\circ} \mathfrak{C}_{l_k}(u_1)$. By claim (ii) we can repeat this procedure at least $\lfloor \rho \| x - x_0 \|_{\infty} / (l_k + 1) \rfloor$ times, use the polynomial bound on ψ and obtain for all $k \geq k_3$ and all $x \in A'_{k+1}(x_0)$ the inequality

$$|\psi(x)| \le \left[(2l_k+1)^d \mathrm{e}^{-ml_k} 2d \right]^{\lfloor \rho \|x-x_0\|_{\infty}/(l_k+1)\rfloor} C \left(1+\|x_0\|_{\infty}+b(al_{k+1}+c) \right)^t.$$

We can rewrite the above inequality as

$$\begin{aligned} |\psi(x)| &\leq \exp\left\{-\left\lfloor\frac{\rho\|x-x_0\|_{\infty}}{l_k+1}\right\rfloor\rho m l_k\right\} \exp\left\{\left\lfloor\frac{\rho\|x-x_0\|_{\infty}}{l_k+1}\right\rfloor \left[d\ln(2l_k+1)\right. \\ &+\ln(2d) - (1-\rho)m l_k\right] + t\ln\left(C(1+\|x_0\|_{\infty} + b(al_{k+1}+c))\right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $(al_k + c)/(1 - \rho) \leq ||x - x_0||_{\infty} \leq b(al_k^{\kappa} + c)/(1 + \rho)$, the second exponential function gets smaller than one if k is larger than some suitable k_4 . Let $\rho' \in (0, 1)$

and choose ρ such that $\rho > 1/(1 + a - \rho'a)$. We obtain that the first exponential function is bounded from above by

$$\begin{split} &\exp\left\{-\left(\frac{\rho\|x-x_0\|_{\infty}}{l_k+1}-1\right)\rho m l_k\right\}\\ &\leq \exp\left\{\rho m l_k\right\}\exp\left\{-\rho^2 m\|x-x_0\|_{\infty}\frac{l_k}{l_k+1}\right\}\\ &\leq \exp\left\{\rho m l_k\left[1-(1-\rho')\rho\frac{\|x-x_0\|_{\infty}}{l_k+1}\right]\right\}\exp\left\{-\rho^2\rho' m\|x-x_0\|_{\infty}\frac{l_k}{l_k+1}\right\}. \end{split}$$

Again, using the lower bound on $||x - x_0||_{\infty}$ and the relation between ρ and ρ' , we see that the first exponential function gets smaller than one if $k \ge k_5$ with appropriate k_5 . Hence, if we pick $\rho'' \in (0, 1)$ we find $k_6 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $k \ge k_6$ and all $x \in A'_{k+1}(x_0)$ we have

$$|\psi(x)| \le \exp\left\{-\rho^2 \rho' m \|x - x_0\|_{\infty} \rho''\right\}.$$
(32)

Set $k_7 = \max\{k_1, \ldots, k_6\}$. By claim (iii) we conclude that for all $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{(al_{k_7}+c)/(1-\rho)}(x_0)$ we have Ineq. (32).

We have shown for all $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}_0$ that every generalized eigenvalue is an eigenvalue with an exponentially decaying eigenfunction. To end the proof we use the fact that for any $\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$, almost every energy E (with respect to a spectral measure) is a generalized eigenvalue [Ber68, Sim82], see also [Kir08, Proposition 7.4].

Fix $\omega \in \Omega_0$, let $M_0 \subset I$ be the set of all generalized eigenvalues in I and M_1 be the set of all eigenvalues in I. It follows that $I \setminus M_0$ has ρ_{ω} -measure zero, and since $M_0 \subset M_1$ we conclude that $I \setminus M_1$ has ρ_{ω} -measure zero. Since $\ell^2(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ is separable M_1 is a countable set, and therefore the measure ρ_{ω} restricted to I is a pure point measure. Hence, $\sigma_c(A_{\omega}) \cap I = \emptyset$.

Proof of Theorem 2.6. Note that each cube that is uniformly (m, E)-regular for ω is also (m, E)-regular for ω . Hence, as a corollary of Theorem 7.7 and 7.8 we obtain exponential localization for the discrete alloy-type model h_{ω} in any energy region where the initial length scale estimate holds. This proves Theorem 2.6.

7.4 Initial scale estimate; proof of Theorem 2.7 and 2.8

In this subsection we prove the initial scale estimate in certain disorder/energy regimes, formulated precisely in Lemma 7.9 and Proposition 7.13. Together with Theorem 2.6 we obtain localization as stated in Theorem 2.7 and 2.8. The proofs of Theorem 2.7 and 2.8 are given at the end of this subsection.

In the large disorder regime the initial scale estimate can be deduced from the uniform control of resonances, see e.g. Theorem 11.1 in [Kir08] or Lemma 14 in [Ves10a]. Since we provide uniform control of resonances for our model in Proposition 6.1, we obtain the following lemma by following [Kir08, Ves10a]. **Lemma 7.9** (Initial scale estimate, large disorder). Let Assumptions (A) and (B) be satisfied and $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}}$ sufficiently small. Then the initial scale estimate is satisfied in \mathbb{R} .

Proof. Let $l_0 > 0$, $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||x - y|| > 8l_0$, $E \in \mathbb{R}$ and $m_0 > 0$. Then

$$\mathbb{P}(B_{l_0}(x, y, m_0, E)) \leq \mathbb{P}\left(\exists E \colon \tilde{d}\left(E, \sigma\left(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_0}(z)}\right)\right) < e^{m_0 l_0}, \ z \in \{x, y\}\right)$$
$$\leq \mathbb{P}\left(\tilde{d}\left(\sigma\left(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_0}(x)}\right), \sigma\left(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l_0}(y)}\right)\right) < 2e^{m_0 l_0}\right).$$

We use Proposition 6.1 to estimate this probability and obtain

$$\mathbb{P}(B_{l_0}(x, y, m, E)) \le C_1(2l_0 + 1)^{3d + \|I_0\|_1} [2e^{ml_0} + C_2 e^{-3l_0\alpha/2}].$$
(33)

From the proof of Proposition 6.1 we infer that $C_1 = \|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}} \hat{C}_1$ with some constant \hat{C}_1 depending only on the single-site potential u. We fix $q \in (0,1), \xi > 2d$, $\kappa \in (1, 2\xi/(\xi + 2d))$ and $\beta \in (2 - \kappa, 1)$. Finally, we choose $\|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}}$ (small enough) and $l_0 > 1$ (large enough) in such a way that

$$\mathbb{P}(B_{l_0}(x, y, m_0, E)) \le l_0^{-2\xi}, \quad l_0 \ge \max\{l^*, \bar{l}\} \quad \text{and} \quad l_0^{\beta - 1} < m_0.$$

Here $l^* = l^*(d, \xi, \kappa, \beta, u, \rho)$ is given by Theorem 7.5 and $\bar{l} = \bar{l}(\beta, \kappa, q, m_0)$ is as in Eq. (29). This choice of $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}}$ and l_0 is always possible as we explain now. Recall that l^* depends on $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}}$ and note that l^* decreases as $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}}$ decreases, see Eq. (25). Now fix for the moment ρ with $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}} = 1$ and choose l_0 large enough such that $l_0 \ge \max\{l^*, \bar{l}\}$ and $l_0^{\beta-1} < m_0$. If we choose ρ with $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}} < 1$ these two conditions will still be satisfied since l^* decreases if $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}}$ decreases. In a last step we choose $\|\rho\|_{\text{Var}} \le 1$ small enough such that $\mathbb{P}(B_{l_0}(x, y, m_0, E)) \le l_0^{-2\xi}$, which is by Ineq. (33) satisfied if

$$\|\rho\|_{\operatorname{Var}} \leq \frac{l_0^{-2\xi}}{\hat{C}_1(2l_0+1)^{3d+\|I_0\|_1} \left[2\mathrm{e}^{ml_0} + C_2\mathrm{e}^{-3l_0\alpha/2}\right]}.$$

In the case of weak disorder, i.e. arbitrary $\lambda > 0$ and energies near the band edges, far less is known if the single-site-potential may change its sign. A version of an initial scale estimate has been proven in [CE12] for exponential decaying sign-changing single-site potentials in the case d = 3. However, the initial scale estimate of [CE12] is not suitable to conclude localization via multiscale analysis in the long-range case, since they prove a non-uniform version only. With a nonuniform version the multiscale analysis requires independence at distance, i.e. supp ucompact, see e.g. [GK03, Theorem 2.4].

In the following we derive a uniform initial scale estimate as formulated in Definition 7.6 for non-compactly supported single-site potentials with a small negative part. The proof is in the manner of [Sim85] where the Anderson model was considered and [Ves01, Ves02] where an initial scale estimate is shown in the case of compactly supported single-site potentials with a small negative part.

For the proof we need to introduce the Neumann Laplacian. The Neumann Laplacian on $\mathfrak{C} \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$ is the operator on $\ell^2(\mathfrak{C})$ defined by

$$h_0^{\mathfrak{C},\mathrm{N}} = \pi_{\mathfrak{C}} h_0 \iota_{\mathfrak{C}} - 2d + n_{\mathfrak{C}}$$

where $n_{\mathfrak{C}}: \ell^2(\mathfrak{C}) \to \ell^2(\mathfrak{C})$ is diagonal with

$$n_{\mathfrak{C}}(i) = |\{j \in \mathfrak{C} : ||j - i||_1 = 1\}|.$$

We denote by $h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C},\mathrm{N}} = h_0^{\mathfrak{C},\mathrm{N}} + \pi_{\mathfrak{C}} v_{\omega} \iota_{\mathfrak{C}}$ the corresponding Neumann Hamiltonian.

Proposition 7.10. Let Assumption (A) be satisfied and $\overline{u} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(k) > 0$. There exists $1 < \beta_0$ and $l_8^* < \infty$ depending only on u, such that if we pick $l \ge l_8^*$ and $\beta \ge \beta_0$, and assume that Assumption (C) is satisfied for $\delta = l^{-2}/(8\beta\omega_+)$, then we have the implication

$$\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}) < l^{-2}/\beta \quad \Rightarrow \quad \left| \left\{ k \in \mathfrak{C}_l \colon \omega_k < \frac{4l^{-2}}{\beta \overline{u}} \right\} \right| > \frac{13}{12} \frac{|\mathfrak{C}_l|}{2}.$$

Proof. Recall that the eigenvector corresponding to the lowest eigenvalue $\lambda_1(h_0^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}) = 0$ is $\psi \in \ell^2(\mathfrak{C}_l)$ with $\psi(k) = 1/\sqrt{|\mathfrak{C}_l|}$ for all $k \in \mathfrak{C}_l$. Moreover, the second eigenvalue satisfies the estimate

$$\lambda_2(h_0^{\mathfrak{C}_l,N}) - \lambda_1(h_0^{\mathfrak{C}_l,N}) = \lambda_2(h_0^{\mathfrak{C}_l,N}) = 2 - 2\cos(\pi/l) > 4l^{-2},$$
(34)

see e.g. [Sim85]. For $\omega \in \Omega$ we set $\tilde{\omega}_k = \min(\omega_k, 8l^{-2}/(\beta ||u||_1))$. Then we have for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $x \in \mathfrak{C}_l$

$$v_{\tilde{\omega}}(x) - v_{\omega}(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(\omega_k - \tilde{\omega}_k \right) \left(\delta u_-(x-k) - u_+(x-k) \right) \le \delta \omega_+ = \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta}.$$

This gives $\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}) \geq \lambda_1(h_{\widetilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}) - l^{-2}/(8\beta)$. We want to apply Temple's inequality, see e.g. [RS80], to the operator $h_{\widetilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}$ with the vector ψ and some constant ξ with $\langle \psi, h_{\widetilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}\psi \rangle < \xi \leq \lambda_2(h_{\widetilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}})$, in order to estimate $\lambda_1(h_{\widetilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}})$ from below. We set

$$\xi := \lambda_2(h_0^{\mathfrak{C}_l, \mathbf{N}}) - \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta}$$
 and $\beta_0 := 65/32 + 8||u||_1/\overline{u}.$

That ξ is larger than $\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l, \mathbb{N}} \psi \rangle$ follows from Ineq. (34), $\beta > 65/32$, and the upper bound

$$\left\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}, \mathrm{N}} \psi \right\rangle = \left\langle \psi, \pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{l}} v_{\tilde{\omega}} \iota_{\mathfrak{C}_{l}} \psi \right\rangle \leq \frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_{l}|} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{l}} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} |u(k-i)| \leq \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta}.$$
(35)

That ξ is smaller or equal to $\lambda_2(h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathbb{N}})$ follows from the lower bound

$$v_{\tilde{\omega}}(x) \ge -\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \tilde{\omega}_k \delta u_-(x-k) \ge -\frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \lambda_2(h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathbf{N}}) \ge \lambda_2(h_0^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathbf{N}}) - \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta}.$$

Here we have used that $\delta = l^{-2}/(8\beta\omega_+)$, $\tilde{\omega}_k \leq \omega_+$ and $||u_-||_1 \leq 1$. By Ineq. (34), Ineq. (35) and the choice of β_0 we have

$$\xi - \left\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l, \mathcal{N}} \psi \right\rangle > \frac{l^{-2}}{\beta} \left[4\beta - \frac{1}{8} - 8 \right] \ge \frac{l^{-2}}{\beta} \frac{32 \|u\|_1}{\overline{u}}.$$
(36)

For the expectation of the square of $h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}$ we calculate that

$$\left\langle \psi, \left(h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l, \mathbf{N}}\right)^2 \psi \right\rangle \leq \frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_l} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \tilde{\omega}_j |u(k-j)|.$$

Choose $R = R(u) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\hat{C}e^{-\alpha R/2}\left[\frac{16}{\|u\|_1} + \frac{\overline{u}}{4\|u\|_1^2}\right] \le \frac{1}{8},$$

where $\hat{C} = \hat{C}(u)$ is the constant from Lemma 6.2. Later it will be convenient that $l \ge l_9^* = l_9^*(u) := 2R$. We split the second sum in $j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}$ and $j \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}$ and obtain by Lemma 6.2 that

$$\left\langle \psi, \left(h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}, \mathrm{N}}\right)^{2} \psi \right\rangle \leq \frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_{l}|} \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta} \left(\|u\|_{1} \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_{j} + |\mathfrak{C}_{l}| \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta \|u\|_{1}} \hat{C} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha R/2} \right).$$
(37)

Here $\hat{C} = \hat{C}(C, \alpha, d)$ is the constant from Lemma 6.2. We also need a lower bound for $\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l, \mathbb{N}} \psi \rangle$. We have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}, \mathrm{N}} \psi \right\rangle &= \frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_{l}|} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{l}} \left(\sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} u(k-i) + \sum_{i \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} u(k-i) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_{l}|} \left(\overline{u} \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} - \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} u(k-i) + \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{l}} \sum_{i \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} u(k-i) \right). \end{split}$$

For the third summand we have by Lemma 6.2

$$\frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_l} \sum_{i \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \omega_i u(k-i) \ge -\frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_l} \sum_{i \notin \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \omega_i |u(k-i)| \ge -\frac{8l^{-2}}{\|u\|_1 \beta} \hat{C} e^{-\alpha R/2}.$$

For the second sum we have using (a version with u(k-x) instead of u(x-k) of) Lemma 6.2 that for $l \ge l_9^*$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_l} \tilde{\omega}_i u(k-i) &= \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l-R}} \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_l} \tilde{\omega}_i u(k-i) + \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R} \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{l-R}} \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_l} \tilde{\omega}_i u(k-i) \\ &\leq |\mathfrak{C}_{l-R}| \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta \|u\|_1} \hat{C} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha R/2} + \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta \|u\|_1} |\mathfrak{C}_{l+R} \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{l-R}| \|u\|_1 \\ &\leq |\mathfrak{C}_{l-R}| \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta \|u\|_1} \hat{C} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha R/2} + \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta} 4dR(l+R)^{d-1}. \end{split}$$

If l is sufficiently large, i.e. $l \ge l_{10}^*$ for some $l_{10}^* = l_{10}^*(R, d) = l_{10}^*(u)$, we have

$$\frac{1}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \sum_{k \notin \mathfrak{C}_l} \tilde{\omega}_i u(k-i) \le \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta ||u||_1} \hat{C} e^{-\alpha R/2} + \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta}$$

Putting everything together we arrive at

$$\left\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}, \mathrm{N}} \psi \right\rangle \geq \frac{\overline{u}}{|\mathfrak{C}_{l}|} \sum_{i \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_{i} - 2 \frac{8l^{-2}}{\beta ||u||_{1}} \hat{C} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha R/2} - \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta}.$$
(38)

We apply Temple's inequality and obtain by Ineq. (38), Ineq. (37) and Ineq. (36) that

$$\begin{split} \lambda_1(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}) &\geq \lambda_1(h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}) - \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta} \geq \left\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}\psi \right\rangle - \frac{\left\langle \psi, \left(h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}\right)^2\psi \right\rangle}{\xi - \left\langle \psi, h_{\tilde{\omega}}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathrm{N}}\psi \right\rangle} - \frac{l^{-2}}{8\beta} \\ &\geq \frac{3}{4} \frac{\overline{u}}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_j - \frac{l^{-2}}{4\beta} - \frac{l^{-2}}{\beta} \hat{C} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha R/2} \Big[\frac{16}{\|u\|_1} + \frac{\overline{u}}{4\|u\|_1^2} \Big]. \end{split}$$

Set $l_8^* = \max\{l_9^*, l_{10}^*\}$. By our choice of R we finally obtain for $l \ge l_8^*$ that

$$\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathbf{N}}) \geq \frac{3}{4} \frac{\overline{u}}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_j - \frac{3}{8} \frac{l^{-2}}{\beta}.$$

Assume that the statement of the proposition is wrong. Then

$$\left|\left\{k \in \mathfrak{C}_l \colon \omega_k \ge \frac{4l^{-2}}{\beta \overline{u}}\right\}\right| > \frac{11}{12} \frac{|\mathfrak{C}_l|}{2}.$$

Since $\omega_k \ge 4l^{-2}/(\beta \overline{u})$ implies $\tilde{\omega}_k \ge 4l^{-2}/(\beta \overline{u})$ we have

$$\frac{l^{-2}}{\beta} > \lambda_1(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_l,\mathbf{N}}) \geq \frac{3}{4} \frac{\overline{u}}{|\mathfrak{C}_l|} \sum_{j \in \mathfrak{C}_{l+R}} \tilde{\omega}_j - \frac{3}{8} \frac{l^{-2}}{\beta} \geq \frac{l^{-2}}{\beta}.$$

This is a contradiction.

Proposition 7.11. Let Assumption (A) be satisfied, $\overline{u} := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} u(k) > 0$, $\zeta \in (0,2)$, $\xi > 0$, β_0 as in Proposition 7.10 and assume that there is $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ with

$$\mathbb{P}(\omega_0 < \varepsilon_0) \le \frac{1}{12}.$$

Then there exists and $l_{11}^* = l_{11}^*(u, \mu, \beta_0, \zeta, \xi) < \infty$, such that if we pick $l \ge l_{11}^*$ satisfying

$$\frac{\lfloor 2l+1 \rfloor}{\lfloor 2l^{1-\zeta/2}\beta_0^{-1/2}+1 \rfloor} \in 2\mathbb{N}+1,$$
(39)

and assume that Assumption (C) is satisfied for $\delta = l^{\zeta-2}/(8\omega_+)$, then we have

$$\mathbb{P}(\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^l) < l^{-2+\zeta}) \le l^{-\xi}.$$

Remark 7.12. The set

$$\left\{l>0\colon \frac{\lfloor 2l+1\rfloor}{\lfloor 2l^{1-\zeta/2}\beta_0^{-1/2}+1\rfloor}\in 2\mathbb{N}+1\right\}$$

is an unbounded set. This follows readily from the following fact: If (a_n) and (b_n) are sequences of natural numbers satisfying $a_n \leq a_{n+1} \leq a_n + 1$ and $b_n \leq b_{n+1} \leq b_n + 1$ for all n and $a_n/b_n \to \infty$, then every natural number larger than a_1/b_1 can be realized by a quotient a_n/b_n .

Proof of Proposition 7.11. We set $\tilde{l} := l^{1-\zeta/2}\beta_0^{-1/2}$ and assume that l is large enough, say $l \ge l_{12}^* = l_{12}^*(u, \beta_0, \zeta)$, such that $\tilde{l} \ge l_8^*$ with l_8^* from Proposition 7.10. By construction we have $n := \lfloor 2l + 1 \rfloor / \lfloor 2\tilde{l} + 1 \rfloor \in 2\mathbb{N} + 1$. Hence we can divide the cube \mathfrak{C}_l into smaller disjoint cubes $\mathfrak{C}^j = \mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}(z_j)$ with appropriate centers z_j , j from one to n^d , and the property that $\mathfrak{C}_l = \dot{\cup}_j \mathfrak{C}^j$. Following [Ves01], see also [Kir08] for the discrete setting, we arrive at

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\lambda_1(h^l_{\omega}) < l^{-2+\zeta}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{n^d} \mathbb{P}\left(\lambda_1(h^{\mathfrak{C}^j,\mathbf{N}}_{\omega}) < \beta_0^{-1}\tilde{l}^{-2}\right).$$
(40)

By translation invariance it remains to estimate $P := \mathbb{P}(\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}},N}) < \beta_0^{-1}\tilde{l}^{-2})$. Since $\tilde{l} \geq l_8^*$ and Assumption (C) is satisfied for $\delta = \tilde{l}^{-2}/(8\beta_0\omega_+)$ we can apply Proposition 7.10 and obtain

$$P \leq \mathbb{P}\left(\left|\left\{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}} : \omega_{k} < \frac{4\tilde{l}^{-2}}{\beta_{0}\overline{u}}\right\}\right| > \frac{13}{12} \frac{|\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}|}{2}\right)$$
$$= \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{1}{\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}} \sum_{k \in \mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}} \mathbf{1}_{\left[0, \frac{4\tilde{l}^{-2}}{\beta_{0}\overline{u}}\right)}(\omega_{k}) \geq p + \left(\frac{13}{24} - p\right)\right), \quad p := \mathbb{P}\left(\omega_{k} \in \left[0, \frac{4\tilde{l}^{-2}}{\beta_{0}\overline{u}}\right)\right).$$

If $l \ge l_{13}^* = l_{13}^*(\mu, \beta_0, \zeta, u)$ then $p \le 1/12$. Hence 13/24 - p is positive and Bernstein's inequality gives

$$P \le e^{-2|\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}|\left(\frac{13}{24} - p\right)} \le e^{-|\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}|\left(\frac{11}{12}\right)^2}.$$
(41)

From Eq. (40) and Ineq. (41) we infer

$$\mathbb{P}(\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^l) < l^{-2+\zeta}) \le n^d \mathrm{e}^{-|\mathfrak{C}_{\tilde{l}}| \left(\frac{11}{12}\right)^2} \le \lfloor 2l+1 \rfloor^d \mathrm{e}^{-(l^{-\zeta/2}\beta_0^{-1/2})^d}.$$

The result follows by choosing l sufficiently large, depending only on u, μ , β_0 , ζ and ξ .

Proposition 7.13. Let Assumption (A) be satisfied, $\overline{u} > 0$ and assume that there is $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{P}(\omega_0 < \varepsilon_0) \le \frac{1}{12}.$$

Let further ξ , κ , β , q and m_0 be as required in Definition 7.6, $\zeta \in (2-2(1-\beta)/\kappa, 2)$, and let β_0 be as in Proposition 7.10.

Then there exists $\delta > 0$ and $\varepsilon_{l_0} > 0$, both depending only on $u, \mu, \beta_0, \zeta, \xi, \kappa, \beta$ and q, such that if Assumption (C) is satisfied for δ , then the initial scale estimate holds in in the interval $[-\varepsilon_{l_0}/2, \varepsilon_{l_0}/2]$.

The length ε_{l_0} of the localization interval $[-\varepsilon_{l_0}/2, \varepsilon_{l_0}/2]$ can be determined following formulas (42), (43), and (44). Similarly, δ equals $l_0^{\zeta-2}/(8\omega_+)$ for l_0 as in (44).

Proof. Note that we know from Remark 7.12 that for each constant K there is an $l \geq K$ which satisfies condition (39). For all $l \geq l_{11}^*$ satisfying condition (39) and assuming that Assumption (C) is satisfied for $\delta = l^{\zeta-2}/(8\omega_+)$, we have by Proposition 7.11

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\lambda_1(h_{\omega}^l) \ge l^{-2+\zeta}\right) \ge 1 - l^{-\xi}.$$

Let $\Omega_{\rm L} := \{ \omega \in \Omega : \lambda_1(h_\omega^l) \ge l^{-2+\zeta} \}$. From Ineq. (18) we infer that the set

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{L}}^* := \{ \omega \in \Omega \colon \lambda_1(h_{\omega'}^l) \ge l^{-2+\zeta} - C_{u,\omega_+} e^{-3l\alpha/2}$$
for all $\omega' \in \Omega$ with $\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}} \omega' = \Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}} \omega \}.$

satisfies $\Omega_{\rm L}^* \supset \Omega_{\rm L}$, hence $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_{\rm L}^*) \ge 1 - l^{-\xi}$. We assume that $l \ge l_{14}^* = l_{14}^*(\zeta, u, \omega_+)$ such that

$$\varepsilon_l := l^{-2+\zeta} - C_{u,\omega_+} \mathrm{e}^{-3l\alpha/2} > 0.$$
(42)

Let $\omega \in \Omega^*_{\mathcal{L}}$ and

$$E \in I_l = \left[-\frac{\varepsilon_l}{2}, \frac{\varepsilon_l}{2}\right]. \tag{43}$$

Then $d(E, \sigma(h_{\omega'}^l)) \geq \varepsilon_l/2$ for all $\omega' \in \Omega$ with $\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}}\omega' = \Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}}\omega$, or with our shorthand notation, $\tilde{d}(E, \sigma(h_{\omega}^l)) \geq \varepsilon_l/2$. The Combes-Thomas estimate, see e.g. [Klo02], gives that there is a universal constant C such that for all $n, m \in \mathfrak{C}_l$ and all $\omega' \in \Omega$ with $\Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}}\omega' = \Pi_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}}\omega$ that

$$|G_{\omega'}^{\mathfrak{C}_l}(E,n,m)| \le \left(\frac{C}{\rho(E)}\right)^2 e^{-\rho(E)||m-n||/C}$$

where

$$\rho(E) = \inf\left\{\sqrt{d(E,\sigma(h_{\omega'}^l))}, 1/4\right\}.$$

Hence, for each $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ we find $l_{15}^* = l_{15}^*(\varepsilon, u, \mu, \zeta)$ such that for all $l \ge l_{15}^*$ we have

$$\sup_{w\in\partial^{\mathbf{i}}\mathfrak{C}_{l}}|G_{\omega'}^{\mathfrak{C}_{l}}(E;0,w)| \le e^{-(1-\varepsilon)l^{\zeta/2-1}l}$$

for all $\omega' \in \Omega$ with $\prod_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}} \omega' = \prod_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}} \omega$. Hence, we have for all $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ and all $l \geq \max\{l_{11}^*, l_{14}^*, l_{15}^*\}$ satisfying Eq. (39) (assuming for the moment that Assumption (C) is satisfied for an appropriate δ)

$$\mathbb{P}(\forall E \in I_l \text{ the cube } \mathfrak{C}_l \text{ is uniformly } ((1-\varepsilon)l^{\zeta/2-1}, E)\text{-regular}) \geq 1 - l^{-\xi}$$

Let $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ with $||z_1 - z_2||_{\infty} > 8l$ and set $P := \mathbb{P}(B_l(z_1, z_2, m_l, I_l))$ where $m_l = (1 - \varepsilon)l^{\zeta/2-1}$. We use translation invariance and the independence of two "disjoint" cylindersets and obtain

$$P \leq \mathbb{P}\Big(\{\exists E \in I_l : \mathfrak{C}_l(z_1) \text{ is not uniformly } (m_l, E)\text{-regular}\} \\ \cap\{\exists E \in I_l : \mathfrak{C}_l(z_2) \text{ is not uniformly } (m_l, E)\text{-regular}}\Big) \\ = \mathbb{P}\Big(\{\exists E \in I_l : \mathfrak{C}_l \text{ is not uniformly } (m_l, E)\text{-regular}}\Big)^2 \leq l^{-2\xi}$$

Since $\zeta > 2\beta$, which follows from our assumption $\zeta > 2 - 2(1 - \beta)/\kappa$, there is $l_{16}^* = l_{16}^*(\zeta, \beta, \varepsilon)$ such that for $l \ge l_{16}^*$ we have $m_l > l^{\beta-1}$ as required in Definition 7.6. If we pick

$$l_0 > \max\left\{ \left(\frac{3}{(1-q)(1-\varepsilon)}\right)^{\frac{2}{\zeta-(2-2(1-\beta)/\kappa)}}, l_{11}^*, l_{14}^*, l_{15}^*, l_{16}^*, l^*\right\}$$
(44)

satisfying Eq. (39), set $m_0 = m_{l_0}$, and assume that Assumption (C) is satisfied for $\delta = l_0^{\zeta^{-2}}/(8\omega_+)$, then the initial scale estimate is satisfied in I_{l_0} . Since $\zeta > 2 - 2(\beta - 1)/\kappa$, the first condition in (44) ensures that $l_0 > \bar{l}$ as required in Definition 7.6.

Proof of Theorem 2.7. The statement follows from Lemma 7.9 and Theorem 2.6 \Box

Proof of Theorem 2.8. The statement follows from Proposition 7.13 and Theorem 2.6. \Box

8 Localization via multiscale analysis (continuous model)

In Section 7 we apply the multiscale analysis à la [KSS98a] to the discrete alloy-type model with exponentially decaying single-site potential. Beyond doubt, on the basis of the Wegner estimate from Theorem 2.2 one could do the same for the (continuous) alloy-type model with exponentially decaying convolution vector.

However, to keep things short, we just note that Proposition 6.3 replaces [KSS98a, Lemma 3.4], which is sufficient for the induction step of the multiscale analysis. Hence, once an appropriate initial length scale estimate is satisfied one obtains localization. More precisely, Proposition 6.3 and the multiscale analysis à la [KSS98a] imply the following theorem.

Theorem 8.1 (localization, continuous model). Assume that U is a generalized step function and assume that Assumptions (B) and (A) are satisfied. Denote by a the infimum of the almost sure spectrum of H_{ω} and assume further that for any $\xi > 0$ and $\beta_0 \in (0, 2)$ there is an $l^* = l^*(\xi, \beta_0)$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}\Big(\tilde{d}\big(a,\sigma(H^l_{\omega})\big) \le l^{\beta_0-2}\Big) \le l^{-\xi}.$$
(45)

Then, for almost every $\omega \in \Omega$, the spectrum of H_{ω} is only of pure point type in a neighborhood of a with exponentially decaying eigenfunctions.

Here, the uniform distance \tilde{d} from Ineq. (45) is defined by

$$\tilde{d}\big(a,\sigma(H^l_{\omega})\big) = \inf_{\omega_1^{\perp} \in \, \Omega_{\mathbb{Z}^d \setminus \mathfrak{C}_{4l}}} d\Big(E,\sigma\big(H^l_{(\omega_1,\omega_1^{\perp})}\big)\Big)$$

where $\omega_1 \in \Omega_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}}$ is defined by $\omega_1 = \prod_{\mathfrak{C}_{4l}} \omega$.

Remark 8.2. Let us finally discuss the validity of an initial scale estimate as formulated in Ineq. (45). If the single-site potential U is non-negative and satisfies $|U(x)| \leq C ||x||^{-m}$ for m large, Ineq. (45) is a well known fact, see e.g. [KSS98b, KSS98a] for the case where U is compactly supported. If the single-site potential changes its sign and has unbounded support, far less is known. However, similarly to Lemma 7.11 of Section 7.4 one can prove Ineq. (45) for the alloy-type model on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ if the single-site potential U is a generalized step function with an exponentially decaying convolution vector of a small negative part. In the case that the single-site potential is even compactly supported this has been done in Section 5 of [Ves01].

References

- [ASFH01] M. Aizenman, J. H. Schenker, R. M. Friedrich, and D. Hundertmark. Finite-volume fractional-moment criteria for Anderson localization. Commun. Math. Phys., 224(1):219–253, 2001.
- [Ber68] J. M. Berezanskii. Expansion in eigenfunctions of self-adjoint operators, volume 17 of Transl. Math. Monographs. American Mathematical Society, 1968.
- [BHS07] J. V. Bellissard, P. D. Hislop, and G. Stolz. Correlations estimates in the lattice Anderson model. J. Stat. Phys., 129(4):649–662, 2007.
- [Bou09] J. Bourgain. An approach to Wegner's estimate using subharmonicity. J. Stat. Phys., 134(5-6):969–978, 2009.
- [CE12] Z. Cao and A. Elgart. The weak localization for the alloy-type Anderson model on a cubic lattice. J. Stat. Phys., 148(6):1006–1039, 2012.
- [CGK09] J.-M. Combes, F. Germinet, and A. Klein. Generalized eigenvaluecounting estimates for the Anderson model. J. Stat. Phys, 135(2):201– 216, 2009.
- [CH94] J.-M. Combes and P. D. Hislop. Localization for some continuous, random Hamiltonians in d-dimensions. J. Funct. Anal., 124(1):149–180, 1994.
- [ESS12] A. Elgart, M. Shamis, and S. Sodin. Localisation for non-monotone Schrödinger operators. arXiv:1201.2211v4 [math-ph], 2012.
- [ETV10] A. Elgart, M. Tautenhahn, and I. Veselić. Localization via fractional moments for models on Z with single-site potentials of finite support. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 43(47):474021, 2010.

- [ETV11] A. Elgart, M. Tautenhahn, and I. Veselić. Anderson localization for a class of models with a sign-indefinite single-site potential via fractional moment method. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 12(8):1571–1599, 2011.
- [FHLM97] W. Fischer, T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, and P. Müller. Existence of the density of states for multi-dimensional continuum Schrödinger operators with Gaussian random potentials. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 190(1):133– 141, 1997.
- [GK01] F. Germinet and A. Klein. Bootstrap multiscale analysis and localization in random media. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 222(2):415–448, 2001.
- [GK03] F. Germinet and A. Klein. Explicit finite volume criteria for localization in continuous random media and applications. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 13(6):1201–1238, 2003.
- [GK12] F. Germinet and F. Klopp. Spectral statistics for random Schrödinger operators in the localized regime. to appear in J. Eur. Math. Soc., arXiv:1011.1832v3 [math.SP], 2012.
- [GK13] F. Germinet and F. Klopp. Enhanced Wegner and Minami estimates and eigenvalue statistics of random Anderson models at spectral edges. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 14(5):1263–1285, 2013.
- [GR09] R. C. Gunning and H. Rossi. Analytic functions of several complex variables. AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2009. Reprint of the 1965 original.
- [GV07] G. M. Graf and A. Vaghi. A remark on the estimate of a determinant by Minami. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 79(1):17–22, 2007.
- [HK02] P. D. Hislop and F. Klopp. The integrated density of states for some random operators with nonsign definite potentials. J. Funct. Anal., 195(1):12–47, 2002.
- [Kir96] W. Kirsch. Wegner estimates and Anderson localization for alloy-type potentials. *Math. Z.*, 221:507–512, 1996.
- [Kir08] W. Kirsch. An invitation to random Schrödinger operators. In Random Schrödinger operators, volume 25 of Panoramas et synthèses, pages 1–119. Société Mathématique de France, 2008. with an appendix by Frédéric Klopp.
- [Klo95] F. Klopp. Localization for some continuous random Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys., 167(3):553–569, 1995.
- [Klo02] F. Klopp. Weak disorder localization and Lifshitz tails. Commun. Math. Phys., 232(1):125–155, 2002.

- [KM82] W. Kirsch and F. Martinelli. On the density of states of Schrödinger operators with a random potential. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 15(7):2139– 2156, 1982.
- [KN09] F. Klopp and S. Nakamura. Spectral extrema and Lifshitz tails for non-monotonous alloy type models. Commun. Math. Phys., 287(3):1133– 1143, 2009.
- [Krü12] H. Krüger. Localization for random operators with non-monotone potentials with exponentially decaying correlations. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 13(3):543–598, 2012.
- [KSS98a] W. Kirsch, P. Stollmann, and G. Stolz. Anderson localization for random Schrödinger operators with long range interactions. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 195(3):495–507, 1998.
- [KSS98b] W. Kirsch, P. Stollmann, and G. Stolz. Localization for random perturbations of periodic Schrödinger operators. *Random Oper. and Stoch.* Equ., 6(3):241–268, 1998.
- [KV06] V. Kostrykin and I. Veselić. On the Lipschitz continuity of the integrated density of states for sign-indefinite potentials. *Math. Z.*, 252(2):367–392, 2006.
- [Min96] N. Minami. Local fluctuation of the spectrum of a multidimensional Anderson tight binding model. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 177(3):709–725, 1996.
- [Mol81] S. Molchanov. The local structure of the spectrum of the one-dimensional Schrödinger operator. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 78(3):429–446, 1981.
- [Nar95] R. Narasimhan. Several complex variables. Chicago Lectures in Mathematics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 1995. Reprint of the 1971 original.
- [PTV11] N. Peyerimhoff, M. Tautenhahn, and I. Veselić. Wegner estimate for alloy-type models with sign-changing and exponentially decaying singlesite potentials. Technische Universität Chemnitz, Preprintreihe der Fakultät für Mathematik, Preprint 2011-9, ISSN 1614-8835, 2011.
- [Rem84] R. Remmert. Funktionentheorie 1. Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- [RS80] M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of modern mathematical physics IV: Analysis of operators. Academic press, San Diego, 1980.
- [Sim82] B. Simon. Schrödinger semigroups. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 7(3):447–526, 1982.
- [Sim85] B. Simon. Lifschitz Tails for the Anderson model. J. Stat. Phys., 38(1-2):65-76, 1985.

- [TV10a] M. Tautenhahn and I. Veselić. A note on regularity for discrete alloy-type models. Technische Universität Chemnitz, Preprintreihe der Fakultät für Mathematik, Preprint 2010-6, ISSN 1614-8835, 2010.
- [TV10b] M. Tautenhahn and I. Veselić. Spectral properties of discrete alloytype models. In P. Exner, editor, XVIth International Congress On Mathematical Physics, pages 551–555. World Scientific, Singapore, 2010.
- [TV13a] M. Tautenhahn and I. Veselić. Minami's estimate: beyond rank one perturbation and monotonicity. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 2013. DOI 10.1007/s00023-013-0263-7.
- [TV13b] M. Tautenhahn and I. Veselić. A note on regularity for discrete alloy-type models II. Technische Universität Chemnitz, Preprintreihe der Fakultät für Mathematik, Preprint 2013-02, ISSN 1614-8835, 2013.
- [vDK89] H. von Dreifus and A. Klein. A new proof of localization in the Anderson tight binding model. Commun. Math. Phys., 124(2):285–299, 1989.
- [vDK91] H. von Dreifus and A. Klein. Localization for random Schrödinger operators with correlated potentials. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 140(1):133– 147, 1991.
- [Ves01] I. Veselić. Indefinite Probleme bei der Anderson-Lokalisierung. PhD thesis, Ruhr-Universität-Bochum, 2001.
- [Ves02] I. Veselić. Wegner estimate and the density of states of some indefinite alloy type Schrödinger operators. *Lett. Math. Phys.*, 59(3):199–214, 2002.
- [Ves08] I. Veselić. Existence and Regularity Properties of the Integrated Density of States of Random Schrödinger Operators, volume 1917 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer, 2008.
- [Ves10a] I. Veselić. Wegner estimate for discrete alloy-type models. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 11(5):991–1005, 2010.
- [Ves10b] I. Veselić. Wegner estimates for sign-changing single site potentials. Math. Phys. Anal. Geom., 13(4):299–313, 2010.
- [Weg81] F. Wegner. Bounds on the DOS in disordered systems. Z. Phys. B, 44(1-2):9–15, 1981.
- [Zie89] W. P. Ziemer. Weakly differentiable functions. Springer, New York, 1989.